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Enclosed please find the National Register nomination form for
the following:

Newfane Village Historic District
Newfane, Windham County, Vermont

This property is being submitted under the Historic Preservation Act of
1966, as amended in 1980, for inclusion in the National Register of
Historic Places.

One comment letter, in support of the nomination, was received. A copy
is enclosed.

Sincerely,
DIVISION FOR-HISTORKC PRESERVATION

Eric Gilbertson
Director/Deputy State Historic
Preservation Officer
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STATE OF VERMONT

AGENCY OF DEVELOPMENT AND COMMUNITY AFFAIRS

MONTPELIER, VERMONT 05602 DEPARTMENTS OF:
Economic Development 828-3221
Housing & Community Affairs 828-32:
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Administration 828-3231

Historic Preservation 828 3226
Vermont Travel Division 828-3236
Vermont Life Magazine 828-3241

MILTON A. EATON, SECRETARY
June 8, 1983

Hendrick van Loon
Chairman

Board of Selectmen
Newfane, Vermont 05345

RE: Newfane Village Historic District

Dear Mr. van Loon:

We are pleased to inform you that the Newfane Village Historic District
has been submitted to the National Park Service for consideration

for entry in the National Register of Historic Places. Notifi-

cation of acceptance or rejection of the property will follow.

Please feel free to contact us if any further information is
desired.

Sincerely,
DIVISION FOR HISTORIC PRESERVATION

)Mw//‘:

cric Gilbertson
Director/Deputy State Historic
Preservation Officer

cc: William H. Schmidt, Executive Director,
Windham Regional Planning and Development Commission
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United States Department of the Interior

NATIONAL PARK SERVICE
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20240 u 2 7 m

IN REPLY REFER TO:

The Director of the National Park Service is pleased to inform you that the following properties have
been entered in the National Register of Historic Places during the week beginning July 17, 1983 and
ending July 23, 1983. For further information call (202) 343-9552.

STATE,County, Vicinity,Property, Address,(Date Listed)

FLORID A, Jackson County, Marianna, Russ, Joseph W., Jr., House, 310 W. Lafayette St. (07/18/83)
FLORIDA, St. Johns County, St. Augustine, Abbott Tract Historic District, Roughly bounded by
Matanza's Bay, Pine, San Marco, and Shenandoah Aves. (07/21/83)

INDIANA, Brown County, Nashville, Brown County Courthouse Historic District, Courthouse, 01d Log
Jail, and the Historical Society Museum Bldg. (07/21/83)

INDIANA, Putnam County, Greencastle, Nelson, F.P., House, 701 E. Seminary (07/18/83)

INDIANA, St. Joseph County, South Bend, Palais Royale Building, 113—105 W. Colfax Ave. and 201—
209 N. Michigan St. (07/21/83)

INDIANA, Whitley County, Columbia City, Marshall, Thomas R., House, 108 W. Jefferson St.
(07/21/83)

IOW A, Montgomery County, Sciola, ¥*Sciola Missionary Baptist Church, US 71 (07/18/83)

KENTUCKY, Barren County, Cave City, Cave City Com mercial District (Barren County MR A),
Broadway between 1st and 2nd Sts. (07/20/83)

KENTUCKY, Barren County, Glasgow, North Race Street Historic District (Barren County MRA), N.
Race St. between Front and Cherry Sts. (07/20/83)

KENTUCKY, Barren County, Rocky Hill vicinity, Octagon Cottage (Barren County MRA), Off SR 1297
(07/20/83)
KENTUCKY, Fayette County, Lexington, Featherston, Edmonson and Clark Houses, 218, 226 and 232
E. Maxwell St. (07/21/83)

KENTUCKY, Harlan County, Benham, Benham Historic District, KY 160, Central Ave., McKnight and
Cypress Sts. (07/21/83)

KENTUCKY, Rowan County, Morehead, Rowan County Courthouse, Main St. (07/21/83)

LOUISIAN A, Lafourche Parish, Lockport vicinity, Bouverans Plantation House, LA 1 (07/21/83)
LOUISIANA, St. Tam many Parish, Abita Springs, Longbranch Annex, LA 36 and Gordon St. (07/21/83)

M AINE, Cumberland County, Portland, Hamblen Block, 188—194 Danforth St. (07/21/83)

M AINE, Cumberland County, Portland, Russwurm, John B., House, 238 Ocean Ave. (07/21/83)

M AINE, Penobscot County, Dixmont, Dixmont Corner Church, US 202 (07/21/83)

MAINE, Waldo County, Lincolnville Center, Lincolnville Center Meeting House, ME 173 (07/21/83)
MAINE, York County, North Berwick, North Berwick Woolen Mill, Canal St. (07/21/83)

MARYLAND, Anne Arundel County, Baltimore vicinity, Arundel Cove Archeological Site, (07/21/83)

MISSISSIPPI, Choctaw County, French Camp, Drane, James, Col. House, Natchez Trace Pkwy.
(07/21/83)




MISSO URI, St. Louis (Independent City), Bmai E1 Temple, 3666 Flad Ave. (07/21/83)
MISSO URI St. Louis (Independent City), Blackwell-Wielandy Building, 1601—09 Locust St. (07/21/83) ‘
MISSO URI Taney County, Branson vicinity, Ross, John, House (0ld Matt's Cabin), MO 76 (07/21/83)

NEBRASK A, Cedar County, Hartington, City Hall and Auditorium (Hartington Municipal Building), 101

N. Broadway (07/21/83)

NEBR ASK A, Cedar County, Menominee, St. Boniface Catholic Church Complex, Main St. (07/21/83)

NEBR ASK A, Douglas County, O maha, Bradford-Pettis House, 404 S. 39th St. (07/21/83)

NEBR ASK A, Douglas County, O maha, Jewell Building, 2221—2225 N. 24th St. (07/21/83) |
NEBR ASK A, Douglas County, O maha, Kelly, George H., House, 1924 Binney St. (07/21/83)

NEBR ASK A, Lancaster County, Lincoln, Eddy-Taylor House, 435 N. 25th St. (07/21/83)

NEW MEXICO, San Miguel County, Las Vegas, Douglas-Sixth Street Historic District, Roughly bounded
by Grand, Lincoln, and 7th Sts., and University Ave. (07/21/83)

NEW MEXICO, Santa Fe County, Santa Fe, Don Gaspar Historic District, Roughly bounded by 01d
Santa Fe Trail, Paseo de Peralta, Don Cubero and Houghton (07/21/83)

NEW YORK, Kings County, Brookland, St. Mary's Episcopal Church, 230 Classon Ave. (07/21/83)

NEW YORK, Kings County, Brooklyn, Prospect Park South Historic District, Roughly bounded by BMT
RR Tracks, Beverly Rd., and Coney Island and Church Aves. (07/21/83)

NEW YORK, Monroe County, Brighton, Stone-Tolan House, 2370 E. Ave. (07/21/83)

NEW YORK, New York County, New York, Puck Building, 295—309 Lafayette St. (07/21/83)

NEW YORK, New York County, New York, Turtle Bay Gardens Historic District, 226—246 E. 49th St.
and 227—245 E. 48th St. (07/21/83)

NEW YORK, Oswego County, Oswego, Pontiac Hotel, W. 1st St. (07/21/83)

NEW YORK, Rockland County, Nyack, Tappan Zee Playhouse, 20 S. Broadway (07/21/83)

NEW YORK, Westchester County, Tarrytown, First Baptist Church and Rectory, 56 S. Broadway
(07/21/83)

NORTH CAROLINA, Clay County, Tusquitee vicinity, Moore, John Covington, House, SR 1307
(07/21/83)

NORTH CAROLINA, Columbus County, Lake Waccamaw, Lake Waccamaw Depot, Flemington Ave.
(07/21/83)

NORTH CAROLINA, Cumberland County, Eastover vicinity, Williams, Robert, House, SR 1728
(07/21/83)

NORTH CAROLINA, Cumberland County, Grays Creek vicinity, DeVane-MacQueen House, NC 87
(07/21/83)

NORTH CAROLINA, Cumberland County, Grays Creek vicinity, Mc Arthur-Council House, SR 2244
(07/21/83)

NORTH CAROLINA, Cumberland County, Hope Mills vicinity, Big Rockfish Presbyterian Church, SR
2268 (07/21/83)

NORTH CAROLINA, Forsyth County, Rural Hall, Rural Hall Depot, Depot St. (SR 1646) (07/21/83)
NORTH CAROLINA, Forsyth County, Winston-Salem, Hylehurst, 224 S. Cherry St. (07/21/83)

NORTH CAROLIN A, Guilford County, Greensboro, Galloway, John Marion, House, 1007 N. Elm St.
(07/21/83)

NORTH CAROLINA, Haywood County, Waynesville, Boone-Withers House, 305 Church St. (07/21/83)
NORTH CAROLINA, Johnston County, Clayton vicinity, Ellington-Ellis Farm, SR 1004 (07/21/83)
NORTH CAROLINA, Mecklenburg County, Charlotte, Overcarsh House, 326 W. 8th St. (07/21/83)
NORTH CAROLINA, Moore County, Carthage vicinity, River Daniel Blue House, SR 1836 (07/21/83)
NORTH CAROLINA, Pitt County, Greenville, Fleming, James L., House, 302 S. Greene St. (07/21/83)
NORTH CAROLINA, Rowan County, Cleveland vicinity, Third Creek Presbyterian Church and
Cemetery, SR 1973 (37/21/83) y
NORTH CAROLINA, Rowan County, Mill Bridge vicinity, O wen-Harrison House, Entrance off north
side of SR 1768 (07/21/83)




NORTH CAROLIN A, Surry County, Siloam vicinity, Cundiff, C.C., House, SR 2230 (07/21/83)

'0 HIO, Warren County, Lebanon vicinity, Stokes, Benjamin A., House, 5587 OH 48 (07/18/83)

OKLAHOMA, Delaware County, Bassett Grove Ceremonial Grounds, (07/20/83)

TEX AS, Hidalgo County, Progreso vicinity, Toluca Rancho, FM 1015 (07/21/83)

UTAH, Salt Lake County, Salt Lake City, ¥*Cannon, George M., House, 720 E. Ashton Ave. (07/18/83)
UTAH, Salt Lake County, Salt Lake City, ¥*Kelly, Albert H., House, 418 S. 200 West (07/20/83)
UTAH, Salt Lake County, Salt Lake City, **Kelly, John B., House, 422 S. 200 West (07/20/83)

UTAH, Tooele County, Tooele, Tooele County Courthouse and City Hall, 71 E. Vine St. (07/21/83)

VERMONT, Windham County, Newfane, Newfane Village Historic District, Main, West, Church, Court,
Depot, and Cross Sts. (07/21/83)

VIR GINIA, Emporia (Independent City), Greensville County Courthouse Complex, S. Main St. (07/21/83)
VIR GINIA, Norfolk (Independent City), First Baptist Church, 418 E. Bute St. (07/21/83)

VIRGINIA, Richmond (Independent City), Manchester Cotton and Wool Manufacturing Co., Hull St. at
Mayo's Bridge (07/21/83)

VIR GINIA, Rockbridge County, Lexington vicinity, Anderson Hollow Archaeological District,
(07/21/83)

WYOMING, Park County, Yellowstone National Park, Norris Museum/Norris Comfort Station
(Yellowstone National Park MR A), Grand Loop Rd. (07/21/83)

The following properties were also entered in the National Register but were excluded from a previous
notice:

KENTUCKY, Jefferson County, Anchorage vicinity, **Bonavita-Weller House (Jefferson County MR A),
12006 Ridge Rd. (07/12/83)

KENTUCKY, Jefferson County, Anchorage vicinity, ¥*Bonnycot (Jefferson County MRA), 1111
Bellewood Rd. (07/12/83)

KENTUCKY, Jefferson County, Anchorage vicinity, ¥*Central Kentucky Lunatic Asylum (Jefferson
County MR A), Lakewood Dr. (07/12/83)

KENTUCKY, Jefferson County, Anchorage vicinity, ¥*Garr House (Jefferson County MRA), 2100
Evergreen Rd. (07/12/83)

KENTUCKY, Jefferson County, Anchorage vicinity, ¥*G wathmey, Richard, House (Jefferson County
MRA), 1205 Elm Rd. (07/12/83)

KENTUCKY, Jefferson County, Anchorage vicinity, ¥*Hausgen House (Jefferson County MRA), 1404
Walnut Lane (07/12/83)

KENTUCKY, Jefferson County, Anchorage vicinity, ¥*May, Robert, House (Jefferson County MR A),
11104 Owl Creek Lane (07/12/83)

KENTUCKY, Jefferson County, Anchorage vicinity, ¥¥Newland Log House (Jefferson County MRA),
12007 Log Cabin Lane (07/12/83)

KENTUCKY, Jefferson County, Anchorage vicinity, ¥*Presbyterian Manse (Jefferson County MRA),
125 Bellewood Rd. (07/12/83)

KENTUCKY, Jefferson County, Anchorage vicinity, *¥*Sherley Mansion (Jefferson County MR A), 2018
Homewood Dr. (07/12/83)

KENTUCKY, Jefferson County, Anchorage vicinity, ¥*Twin Gates Carriage House (Jefferson County
MR A), 11801 Osage Rd. (07/14/83)

KENTUCKY, Jefferson County, Anchorage vicinity, ¥*Walker, James, House (Jefferson County MRA),
1902 Evergreen Rd. (07/12/83)

KENTUCKY, Jefferson County, Anchorage vicinity, ** Williams, Eustace, House (Jefferson County
MRA), 11705 Owl Creek Lane (07/12/83)




STATE OF VERMONT

AGENCY OF DEVELOPMENT AND COMMUNITY AFFAIRS

MONTPELIER, VERMONT 05602

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY (802) 828-3211

MILTON A. EATON, SECRETARY

August 9, 1983

Hendrick van Loon
Chairman

Board of Selectmen
Newfane, VT 05345

RE: Newfane Village Historic District

Dear Mr. van Loon:

DEPARTMENTS OF:

Economic Development 828-3221
Housing & Community Affairs 828-3217

DIVISIONS OF:
Administration 828-3231
Historic Preservation 828-3226
Vermont Travel Division 828-3236
Vermont Life Magazine 828-3241

On April 21, 1983, the Division sent you a letter notifying you that the
Newfane Village Historic District was being considered for nomination to the
National Register of Historic Places. We are nleased to inform you that the
Newfane Village Historic District has now been officially entered on the

National Register.

If you desire further information regarding this nomination, please feel

free to contact us.
Sincerely,
DIVISION FOR HISTOR ~PRESERVATION
IS | 6'/%
/;/‘/(/ .
Eric Gilbertson

Director/Deputy State
Historic Preservation Officer

EG/kag
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OMB No. 1024-0018
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For NPS use only
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1. Name

historic Newfane Village Historic District

and/or common  Same

2. Location

Principally along
and Cross Streets

Main, West, Church, Court, Depot,
street & number

N/A

not for publication

city, town Newfane N/A. vicinity of
state Vermont code 50 county Windham code ()25
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
_X__ district ___ public X__ occupied ___agriculture X museum
—___building(s) ___ private _____unoccupied _X_ commercial X_ park
structure _X both —___work inuprogress —educational X_ private residence
_ __ site Public Acquisition Accessible ____entertainment _X_ religious
____ object N/A— in process ____yes: restricted _X__government ____ scientific
____ being considered X __ yes: unrestricted —_industrial _ transportation
—___no —_ military —_other:
4. Owner of Property
name Multiple Ownership ; see list on Continuation Sheets 1-4
street & number
city, town ____vicinity of state

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Office of the Town Clerk

street & number West Street

city, town Newfane state Vermont 05345
6. Representation in Existing Surveys
Vermont Historic Sites and . . .
tile Structures Survey has this property been determined eligible? ___yes _x_no
date 1971 —federal _X state ___county __ local

depository for survey records Vermont Division for Historic Preservation

city, town Montpelier

state Vermont 05602
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received
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Page 1

Property Owners in the Newfane Village Historic District:

6.

6A.

e}

10.

11

12,

County of Windham
Newfane, Vermont 05345

Trustees of the First Congregational
Church
Newfane, Vermont 05345

Robert and Frances Howells
Newfane, Vermont 05345

Keith and Barbara Crowell
Newfane, Vermont 05345

Earle Morse, Chairman

Board of Trustees

Incorporated Village of Newfane
Newfane, Vermont 05345 5

Barbara Litchfield
Newfane, Vermont 05345

Norman and Mary Hunt
Newfane, Vermont 05345

Michael Hecker
Newfane, Vermont 05345

Elsie Sergides
37 Maryland Street
Springfield, Massachusetts 01108

Albert (Jr.) and Deborah Litchfield
Newfane, Vermont 05345

Lynn and Jane Kent
Newfane, Vermont 05345

Historical Society of Windham County, Inc.
c/o Mrs. William Mantel
Newfane, Vermont 05345

Mary Strahan
Newfane, Vermont 05345
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14. County of Windham

14A. Newfane, Vermont 05345

15. Donald Maher
15A. 21 Vaille Avenue

Lexington, Massachusetts

16. Earle and Margaret Morse
Newfane, Vermont 05345

17. - 19.
Newfane, Vermont

20. Peter and Mary Loring
20A. Newfane, Vermont 05345

21. Robert and Lynda Bates

Newfane, Vermont 05345
22. George Swift
22A. Newfane, Vermont 05345

23. Jay and Linda Whitaker
23A. Newfane, Vermont

05345

24 . Norman and Barbara Brook
24A. Newfane, Vermont 05345
25. Pauline Casanova

Newfane, Vermont 05345
26. Maude Radway
26A. Newfane, Vermont 05345
27. Earle Sanford

Newfane, Vermont 05345

28. Brinton Shine
28A. Wardsboro, Vermont 0535

29. Percy and Joyce Sprague
29A. Newfane, Vermont 05345

02173

William and Fanny Mantel

05345

S

5
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30. Norman and Esther LaMoria

Newfane, Vermont 05345

31. Gertrude Van Vliet
31A. 25 Hawley Place
Ridgefield, Connecticut 06877

32. Creighton Goodnough
6001 Ballon Court
Raleigh, North Carolina

930 Paul Peterson and Willie Miller
33A. Newfane, Vermont 05345

54.. William and Margaret McCracken
Newfane, Vermont 05345

35. William and Shirley Schommer .
Newfane, Vermont 05345

36 Vermont National Bank
Newfane, Vermont 05345

37. Eric and Gundella Weindl
Newfane, Vermont 05345

38 Wesley Liebler

38A. Newfane, Vermont 05345

39., Jacques Allembert

39A. Newfane, Vermont 05345

39B.

40. Trustees of the Moore Free Library

40A. Newfane, Vermont 05345

41 Sally and Norman Ballentine
Newfane, Vermont 05345

42, Irma Schroeder
Newfane, Vermont 05345

‘ 43. Trustees of the First Congregational Church
Newfane, Vermont 05345

44, Alice Williams
Newfane, Vermont 05345
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(382)
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National Park Service
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45. Leonard Wallstein 58. Brantz and Ana Mayor
755 West End Avenue, Apt. 58 58A. 7 Hemlock Road
New York, New York 10025 Hanover, New Hampshire 03755
46. Earle and Margaret Morse 59. A. Luke and Miriam Crispe
46A. Newfane, Vermont 05345 59A. Newfane, Vermont 05345
47. Robert and Muriel Crowell
Newfane, Vermont 05345
48. Nancy Grussing
48A. Newfane, Vermont 05345
49. Robert and Muriel Crowell
49A. Newfane, Vermont 05345
50 Steven Zeigfinger
Newfane, Vermont 05345
51 Sally Ballentine
Newfane, Vermont 05345
52 Lawrence and June Williams
52A. Newfane, Vermont 05345
55. Joseph and Beverly Bates
53A. Newfane, Vermont 05345
54. Douglas and Beatrice MacFarland
Newfane, Vermont 05345
55. Earle and Louise Stebbins
Newfane, Vermont 05345
56.. Albert Sievers
RFD 1, Box 47A
Moodus, Connecticut 06469
5 Mrs. Joseph Pontecorno

31-20 54th Street
Woodside, New York 11377



7. Description

Condition Check one Check one
—Xx. excellent ____deteriorated X __ unaltered X __ original site
__x good ____ruins X__ altered X_moved * date _ 1825-35

' _X_fair ____ unexposed

*Buildings #4, 13, 37, and possibly others
Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

The Newfane Village Historic District includes most of the village of Newfane, in-
corporating some sixty principal buildings. Circumscribed by low hills, the village
occupies a relatively flat area along Smith Brook in the West River valley. An
irregular ring of public buildings surrounds the central common, flanked on the
north by a small group of commercial buildings; residential areas radiate from that
core. Architectural styles range from the Federal (represented by buildings moved
to the site during its initial development circa 1825) to the Colonial Revival;

the Greek Revival style predominates, overlaid in several cases with Gothic Revival
elements. The overwhelmingly preponderant wood-framed and clapboarded, gable-roofed
buildings share a domestic scale and a nearly uniform color scheme (white with

dark trim) that give the village an unusually cohesive appearance. Careful main-
tenance of the building stock and lack of modern intrusions reinforce the integrity
of Newfane's historic character.

Both Newfane village and the historic district focus on the expansive Common, whose
east-west axis interrupts the north-south pattern of settlement along Main Street
(Vermont Route 30) and the diverging West Street. The village's public buildings -
including the county court house (#1) and former jail (#14) - surround the Common;
a small commercial area of a half-dozen buildings lies immediately to the north.
Residential areas including some forty-five houses extend outward to the south,
north, and northwest.

The right-of-way of the abandoned West Rivér Railroad - marked by the former depot,
#17 - defines the east side of the village. Northward from the relatively flat
village center, Main Street ascends the shoulder of a low hill; the historic
district follows Main Street almost to the edge of the village at the brow of the
hill. In the opposite direction, the historic district extends only a short dis-

. tance south of the Common along Main Street. The other principal street of the
village, West Street, diverges from Main Street at the Common and parallels
Smith Brook along its constricting valley to the northwest, where the historic
district reaches to the former Edwards farm (#59) at the village fringe.

Main Street bisects the large landscaped oblong Common. To the west, the per-
pendicular Court Street bounds the north side of the Common, intersecting West
Street at its northwest corner. From there, West Street cuts diagonally south-
eastward across the Common to converge with Main Street; Church Street leads from
the same (northwest) corner on a right-angle alignment to bound the west and south
sides of the oblong. (The pavement of the two streets usurps much of the Common's
southwest quadrant.) East of Main Street, an unnamed semicircular driveway
encloses the Common.

The informally landscaped Common consists of broad lawns furnished with various
monuments and a fountain and is shaded by scattered mature deciduous Trees. Like
those along the village streets, the trees that formerly dominated the setting are
dwindling in number, the victims of disease and the ancillary effects of encoraching
pavement and highway maintenance practices (especially winter salting). Two granite
monuments flank the east side of Main Street: one commemorates Jonathan Park -

. original settler and donor of lard for the Common - while the other formerly served
as a public watering trough. West of Main Street on the Common, a multi-tiered, cast-
iron fountain standing in a circular basin enhances the front grounds of the Windham
County Court House (#1); a Civil War memorial statue (installed in 1916) stands south
of the fountain near West Street.
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The buildings are sited at varying intervals, setbacks, and orientation around the
perimeter of the Common, illustrating the irregular pattern of density and facade

lines that exists throughout the historic district. The public buildings west of

Main Street - the Court House (#1), First Congregational Church (#2), and Union

Hall (#5) - share the same eastward orientation but each holds a different position
relative to the perimeter of the Common. The architectural focus of the village

and historic district, the Windham County Court House (#1) stands within the Common but
offset parallel to its Court Street (north) edge; the First Congregational Church
stands perpendicular to, and outside of, the Church Street end of the Common while

the Union Hall stands parallel to, and outside of, Church Street's south leg.

Along Main and West Streets leading away from the Common, the detached buildings

occupy relatively small lots although generally with both front and side yards. The
density declines at the margins of the historic district, where gaps between the
buildings mark the transition from the village to its rural fringes. The houses along

the streets exhibit a variety of setbacks and orientations; West Street has the
most uniform facade lines.

Architectural styles represented within the Newfane Village Historic District

range from the Federal to the Colonial Revival in period. Reflecting the village's
development during the second quarter of the nineteenth century, the Greek Revival
style dominates the historic district. Only a few buildings approach being fully
developed expressions of their styles - the Greek Revival style Court llouse (#1)

is the outstanding example. The majority consists of simplified temple form buildings
to which some decorative elements, frequently Gothic, have been applied.

A few Federal style buildings in the historic district - notably the Olds-Davidson
House (#13) and the Newfane Inn (#37) - were constructed during the late eighteenth
century on the original site of the county seat atop Newfane Hill, about two miles
west of (and 1000 feet higher than) the present village. Upon construction of

the new Court House (#1) and County Jail (#14) in 1825, the county seat was shifted
to the valley location and the village followed physically; during the succeeding
decade, most of the buildings atop the Hill were dismantled and moved downhill

to their present sites. Whatever alterations the buildings may have received in
the process are not known.

Newfane's buildings display an extraordinary homogeneity of exterior appearance.

Their nearly universal size of one- or two-and-one-half stories - regardless of type -
gives the entire village a domestic scale;, the majority have gable-front orien-
tations. The greatest uniformity involves materials: with but two exceptions -

the brick Iistorical Society museum (#12) and the Vermont National Bank (#36) -

the principal buildings are wood-framed and sheathed with claphoards or, occasionally
synthetic substitutes. The most visually striking characteristic is the color

of the buildings: regardless of their original, and in the case of the late
nineteenth-century (Queen Anne) examples, more appropriate colors, fully ninety
percent are now painted white with dark green or black trim.
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Several types of buildings appear in the historic district, including commercial,
religious, agricultural, railroad, and residential. The last type accounts for the
overwhelming majority, about three-quarters of the total. Several houses, however,
have been partly adapted to accommodate modest commercial uses. Among the small
numbers of the other building types, some changes of usage have also occurred. The
extreme case involves two railroad-related buildings (#17 and #19) that have lost
their original railroad functions.

The agricultural building type in the historic district takes the form of barns and
sheds associated with village houses. In most cases, these outbuildings are linked
physically to the houses, comprising the '"continuous architecture" typical of
nineteenth-century Vermont. The virtual disappearance in the present century of
animals kept on the premises for food and transport has led to significant changes
in their former domiciles; the barns especially have undergone various adaptations
of use and alterations of appearance. The most dramatic examples are the former
barn of the Park-Field House (#51), converted circa 1925 to a theatre, and the
finest carriage barn in the village (#39A, belonging to the Kimball-Benedict House),
recently altered to accommodate use as the annex of an inn.

The generally good condition of most buildihgs within the Newfane Village Historic
District indicates active and ongoing maintenance. Substantial rehabilitation
or restoration, therefore, have not been common in recent years.

Many buildings in the historic district have undergone minor alteration. During
the nineteenth century, porches and bay windows were added to several buildings;
those features have since become historic in their own right. Some of those
porches have been removed in recent decades - the most conspicuous case being the
two-story veranda that formerly spanned two facades of the Newfane Store (#16).
Generally, the buildings retain the essence of their original character, and taken
together, they form an excellent example of a well-preserved Vermont villagescape.

Descriptions follow of the individual buildings in the historic district; numbers
refer to the enclosed sketch map.

[ Windham County Court House (Court Street); 1825, 1853, 1907

The architectural focus of the village (and historic district) since its erection
in 1825, the Windham County Court House stands within the common, deeply set back
from the west side of Main Street. The two-story, wood-framed and clapboarded
Court House constitutes an outstanding example of the Greek Revival style, pre-
senting to Main Street a Doric tetrastyle temple front appended in 1853. Behind
‘ the Greek Revival portico, the main block of the building exhibits Federal features
original to its construction. The nine-bay north eaves elevation of the building

and its slate-sheathed shallow-pitched gable roof parallel the south side of Court Street;



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No. 1024-0018
(3-82) Exp. 10-31-84

United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service For NPS use only
National Register of Historic Places received
inventory—Nomination Form date entored
Continuation sheet 3 Item number 7 Page 3

the rear (west) two bays and rear gable elevation were added to the original block
during an enlargement in 1907. The rear five-bay elevation overlooks West Street
and displays the same stylistic elements as the east front, excepting the portico
and central entrance.

The two-story Doric portico dominates the five-bay east front facade, its fluted
columns rising from grarite bases to the entablature of the surmounting pediment: the
frieze bears the building's name in raised gold-leaf letters. A modillion cornice
encloses the flush-boarded tympanum inset with a triangular panel. Granite steps
approach the facade's central Federal entrance comprised of a double-leaf paneled
door flanked by sidelights and pilasters; the latter support a full entablature
surmounted by a semielliptical fanlight. The regular fenestration carries semi-
circular louvered fans on both stories; the first story is lighted by six-over-
six sash while the taller second story openings have nine-over-nine sash. The
windows are flanked by louvered shutters, and those on the upper halves of the
second-stcry windows are generally kept closed. Corner pilasters terminate the
wall plane.

Set back from the plane of the pediment, a two-stage tower rises from the building's
ridge. The square flush-boarded lower stage carries a modillion cornice, above
which the recessed upper stage is distinguished by pilastered truncated corners

that flank a recessed round-headed louver on each face; a bracketed cornice en-
circles the upper stage below a culminating hexagonal domed cap.

The north and south eaves elevations of the Court House differ from the gable
elevations by having broad smooth pilasters with prominent capitals separating the
individual bays; the window treatment matches that of the other elevations. At

the rear of the north elevation, a secondary entrance is sheltered by an Italianate
scroll-bracketed hood.

The rear (west) gable elevation of the building is also a public facade, and repeats
on a single wall plane the pedimented form and decorative treatment of the main
(east) facade.

2. First Congregational Church (Church Street); 1839

Reflecting the design of the slightly earlier Union Hall (#5), the essentially
Greek Revival character of the First Congregational Church bears an overlay of
Gothic Revival influence in its pointed-arch openings. The wood-framed and clap-
boarded church rises two stories from a granite slab foundation to a slate-sheathed
gable roof, above which a three-stage tower with spire soars to the greatest

height among the buildings in the historic district.
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Full-width granite steps approach the church's three-bay east gable facade. Smooth
pilasters delineate the three bays of the facade, rising from the building's sill

to the underscaled cornice of the vertically exaggerated pediment; capital bands
near the top of the pilasters suggest the two lower members of an entablature under
the cornice. A tall pointed-arch louver is centered within the clapboarded tympanum.
On the first story, eight-over-twelve sash flank the central entrance; the latter
-consists of a double-leaf paneled door enframed by sidelights and multi-pane transom,
the entire ensemble set within a fluted surround with corner blocks. The taller
second-story openings have twelve panes exposed above closed louvered shutters

and below the intersecting tracery of pointed-arch heads; pointed-arch shutters

flank the exposed windows.

The square clapboarded tower ascends above the facade through three recessed
stages, each defined by corner pilasters supporting a full entablature and the
upper two bearing a pointed-arch louver on each face. The tower culminates in a
four-sided clapboarded spire that tapers upward to a metal weathervane.

The four-bay north and south eaves elevations of the church lack the pilasters that
appear on the east facade. The simpler fenestration consists of eight-over-twelve

sash on the first story and twelve-over-twelve sash on the second story, the latter
headed by pointed-arch louvers.

3. Davis-Howells House (Church Street); ¢.1790, moved c.18307?

This diminutive one-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded house may
have been built on Newfane Hill circa 1790 and then moved to its present site
circa 1830. The two- by three-bay main block has an entrance on its north gable
facade, its asphalt-shingled gable roof being oriented perpedicular to the ad-
jacent First Congregational Church (#2). A one-story west ell links the main
block to a former shed sheathed with flush vertical boards and now used as part
of the residence.

3A. Garage: <¢.1970

One story; wood-framed; clapboarded; gable roof; one stall with overhead door flanked
by recessed, screened west porch. Non-contributing owing to age.

4. Jones-Underwood€rowell House (Church Street); 1787, moved 1825

Among the earliest buildings in Newfane, this plain two-and-one-half story, wood-
framed and clapboarded gable-roofed house was constructed on its original Newfane
Hill site in 1787 and served as the county jail. In 1825, the building was
dismantled and moved to its present site, where it was reconstructed as the re-
sidence of Anthony Jones. During the middle decades of the century (c.1840-1880),
the house served as the Congregational Parsonage.
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The house's six-bay north eaves facade looks toward the Congregational Church and
Court House while its asphalt-shingled gable roof corresponds in alignment to the
larger buildings. Two-over-one sash have replaced the house's original small-pane
windows, and the sidelighted off-center main doorway is sheltered by a small
entrance porch. The circa 1960 porch replaced a nineteenth-century, four-bay,
shed-roofed porch with bracketed posts that spanned the entire width of the facade.
The house's gable (east and west) elevations extend three bays in depth.

4A. Garage: 1973

One story; wood-framed; redwood  siding; gable roof; 2 stalls with overhead
doors. Non-contributing owing to age.

54 Union Hall (Church Street); 1832

Union Hall flanks the Court House on the south side of the Common (Across West
Street) sharing the latter's deep setback from Main Street. Constructed in 1832
as the Union Church, the building may have introduced to Newfane the stylistic
blend of Greek Revival and Gothic Revival forms noted above in the description
of the First Congregational Church (#2). 1In this case, the Gothic Revival
overlay includes both pointed-arch windows and crenelated tower cresting. The
one-story, wood-framed and clapboarded building stands on a granite and brick
foundation, has a slate-sheathed gable roof oriented parallel to Church Street
and is surmounted by a two-stage tower.

The three-bay east gable facade of Union Hall, like that of the Congregational
Church (#2), is subdivided by smooth pilasters with molded capitals that support

the horizontal entablature of the pedimented gable. The clapboarded tympanum is
inset with a triangular louver. The molded surrounds of the pointed-arch openings
on the main story match the pilasters in height. Within its surround, the central
doorway is surmounted by a louver that repeats the pointed-arch form of the flanking
windows. Each window consists of a twenty-over-twenty sash headed by a pointed arch
lighted with rectangular panes (those along the perimeter being cut to the required
curvature); pointed-arch shutters - divided vertically at the apex of the arch -

are mounted in an open position.

The clapboarded two-stage square tower stands atop the ridge just behind the gable
peak. Both stages are crowned by molded cornices; the diminished upper stage is
marked by a pointed-arch louver on each face and bears a crenelated cresting with
corner pinnacles.

The plain three-bay north and south eaves elevations of the building lack the
. molded surrounds and pilasters of the east facade. The twenty-over-twenty sash
are headed by pointed-arch louvers.
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In 1872 (after having been abandoned by religious groups for about twenty years),

the building was refurbished and converted to a public hall. Probably at that time,

a broad one-bay, gabled entrance porch with pedastaled corner pillars and side
balustrades was added to the front facade, its stamped-metal roof rising to the impost
level of the pointed-arch louver above the doorway. The porch was removed in 1981
when the present full-width wood steps were installed.

6. Pratt House (Main Street); 1916-17

Showing the influence of the contemporary Colonial Revival style, this residence,
commonly known as the Pratt House, was built in 1916-17 to replace (and emulate)
the elegantly detailed Federal style Field House that had been destroyed by fire.
The present two-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded house stands back
from the corner of Main and West Streets, its slate-shingled gable roof parallel
to the former. Various shrubs and trees screen the house from the street and the
Common to the north.

The symmetrical three-bay east eaves facade possesses coupled two-over-one sash

each side of, and directly above, the central entrance; single sash occupy the
outer bays on the second story. (On the two-bay north gable elevation, the

coupled sash occur only on the first story.) The main (east) entrance is

sheltered by a one-bay porch (now enclosed with corner columns and central pediment.

A one-and-one-half story south wing is recessed from the facade line of the main
block. An enclosed entrance porch occupies the interior corner between the main
block and the wing, sheltering the latter's east entrance.

6A. Garage: <¢.1920

One-and-one-half stories; wood-framed; novelty siding; gable roof; 2 stalls with
sliding doors.

T Hunt House (Main Street); c¢.1970

One-and-one-half stories; wood-framed; board-and-batten siding; gable roof;
casement windows; built ¢.1970 to replace the late 18th-century Holland House
destroyed by fire. Non-contributing owing to age.

8. Eddy House (Main Street); c¢.1850

Marking the southwest corner of the Newfane Village Historic District, this
two-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded house presents to Main Street
a broad four-bay east gable front. As in the case of several other houses in the
historic district, a Gothic Revival style porch with bracketed slotted posts spans
the facade in five bays.
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The two-over-two sash are arranged in an asymmetrical manner around the central
entrance. The house extends only three bays in depth along the north and south
eaves elevations. The gable roof has been sheathed with corrugated metal.

A one-and-one-half story shed wing projects from the rear (west) elevation of the
house.

9. Buttery House (Main Street); ¢.1840

Standing across Main Street from the Eddy House at the southeast corner of the
historic district, the Buttery House constitutes a rather unusual example of Greek
Revival domestic architecture. The two-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clap-
boarded house is oriented with its asymmetrical five-bay west eaves facade toward
the street rather than the stylistically appropriate three-bay pedimented gable
elevations relegated here to subsidiary positions.

Another stylistic anomaly involves the placement of the main entrance in the (south)
end bay of the eaves facade. Nevertheless,.the doorway displays a proper Greek
Revival array of sidelights, pilasters, and entablature; and the latter features
appear in larger scale on the corners and eaves, respectively, of the house.

The varied fenestration comprises sixteen-over-sixteen sash on the west facade's
first story, six-over-six sash on the facade's second story and both stories of

the other elevations, and paired eight-over-twelve sash inset in the tympanums

of the north and south pedimented gables.

A one-and-one-half story ell projects from the rear (east) elevation of the house;
a small vertical boarded barn extends from the east end of the ell.

10. Litchfield House (Main Street); c¢.1840

One-and-one-half stories; wood-framed; clapboarded: gable roof (asphalt shingles)
with added continuous shed dormer on west slope:; 5-bay west ecaves facade with off-
center entrance, altered porch; two-over-two sash except six-over-six in south
gable; added east ell. Non-contributing owing to alterations.

11 Moulton House (Main Street); «c.1840
One-and-one-half stories; wood-framed; clapboarded; gable roof (asphalt shingles);

3-bay west gable facade with altered porch; two-over-two sash; one-story east
wing with attached shed.
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12 Historical Society of Windham County (Main Street); 1936

This 1936 reproduction of a Federal style house was built for use as a museun.

The two-and-one-half story, brick, marble-trimmed building stands parallel to, and
set back from, Main Street; its gable roof is shingled with slate. The five-

bay west eaves facade is arranged symmetrically around a central entrance composed
of a double-leaf door set in a molded architrave surround that is topped by an
entablature. The several marble components include the steps, water table, door
surround, and the sills and keystones of the eight-over-twelve sash.

1.35. Olds-Davidson House (Main Street); ¢.1790, moved c.1830

Originally constructed circa 1790 on Newfane Hill and moved to its present site

circa 1830, the Olds-Davidson House defines the south edge of the Common on the

east side of Main Street. The Federal style (with some later Greek Revival and
[talianate additions) wood-framed and clapboarded house consists of a two-and-one-
half story main block oriented parallel to Main Street and, attached to its northeast
corner, a two-story east ell whose three-bay length parallels the Common. Two-
over-two sash light the first and second stories while paired eight-over-twelve

sash occupy the north and south gables of the main block. The slate-shingled

main gable roof carries two interior end chimneys.

The main block's five-bay west eaves facade is arranged symmetrically around a
formal central entrance, whose paneled door is flanked by sidelights framed by
paired molded pilasters and crowned by a semielliptical fanlight with carved
surround and radially patterned spandrels, the entire ensemble set inside tapered
smooth pilasters. An added Italianate entrance porch with bracketed chamfered
posts and scroll-sawn balustrade shelters the doorway, and its roof carries a
similar balustrade to serve as a balcony for a pilastered and sidelighted second-
story doorway. Corner pilasters that stop below the eaves entablature enframe
the facade; both the pilasters and entablature may have been added or reworked in
the Greek Revival period.

A similar porch extends the width of the four-bay north gable elevation, a sec-

ondary facade facing the Common that also possesses both first and second story

central doorways. The porch also serves an entrance in the west gable elevation
of the east ell, which is offset one bay north of the main block's wall plane.

A one-story garage wing extends eastward from the ell, replacing a large barn that
formerly was linked to the ell by an intermediate shed.
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14. former Windham County Jail; 1825, c.1853?

Defining the east side of the Common and facing the Court House (whose facade it
rather crudely emulates) across Main Street to the west, this building and its

since demolished south wing formerly served the dual function of being the county

jail and a commercial hotel. The two-and-one-half story, white-painted brick building
was constructed in 1825, oriented with its slate-shingled main gable roof parallel

to Main Street. A broad transverse gable and two-story veranda (possibly added

in 1853 when the Court House received its tetrastyle portico) dominates the west
facade. The jail's window openings have granite sills and two-over-two sash, screened
in the north half of the building with iron bars.

Below the pedimented transverse gable of the west facade, a two-story veranda
supported by four slender columns with granite bases shelters five of the facade's
seven bays. The open concrete deck of the first story serves the sidelighted
central entrance; the upper level is enclosed by a balustrade of dimension stock.
A six-over-six sash framed by sidelights and transom creates a large central
opening in the flush-boarded tympanum.

A one-story, shed-roofed enclosed porch was added circa 1956 across three of the
four bays on the south gable elevation. A doorway with a small metal balcony and
fire ladder marks the gable of that elevation.

Excepting the replacement of the twelve-over-twelve sash, the jail retains
essentially its nineteenth-century appearance. However, two different south

wings have been attached to the building during portions of its existence. The
first appears in early photographs to have been the barn (#14A) that now stands

a short distance to the south. The barn was detached probably to make way for the
substantially larger second wing built for the Windham County Hotel.

The wood-framed and clapboarded hotel wing extended eight bays southward at the
scale of the main block, more than doubling the overall size of the building.
Containing twenty-five guest rooms, the hotel was distinguished by a single-level
porch with turned components that spanned half its length between the jail's porch
and the off-center hotel entrance. The hotel wing was demolished in 1956.

14A. Barn; <¢.1853, moved c¢.1890

Originally attached to the County Jail's south elevation, this two-and-one-half
story, wood-framed and clapboarded barn stands south of the former jail with its
asphalt-shingled gable roof oriented parallel to the main buidling. Six bays of
twelve-over-twelve sash are widely spaced along the second story of the west eaves
elevation; a row of five horse-stall windows marks the middle section of the first
story. An inappropriate segmented overhead door has been installed in the north
gable elevation.
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1:5;. Chase-Maher House; ¢.1850, altered c.1890

Standing on the north side of the Common, the Chase-Maher House was transformed
circa 1890 from its original utilitarian appearance to the village's most

fully developed example of the Queen Anne style possessing an asymmetrical plan
with several projections including a three-story corner tower. The two-and-
one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded house has a high cross-gable roof
shingled with slate. Its fenestration consists of two-over-two sash arranged
in an irregular manner; under the west gable, a second-story oriel overlooks
the Common to the south.

The south gable facade is dominated by a two-story, chamfered-post porch

serving entrances on both levels. The open first story extends around the
southwest corner of the house; the upper story has a turned balustrade. Both
levels terminate against the three-story polygonal tower that occupies the
southeast corner of the house; the tower rises through a dogtooth frieze band
to a bellcast slate-shingled, pyramidal-peaked roof that culminates in a finial.

A one-and-one-half story wing with a staggered-butt slate roof projects from
the east elevation of the house toward its adjacent barn (#15A).

15A. Barn; ¢.1890

Standing to the northeast of the Chase-Maher llouse, this one-and-one-half story,
wood-framed and clapboarded barn is oriented with its corrugated metal-clad
gable roof parallel to the south side of Depot Street. Four six-over-six

sash are spaced along the south eaves elevation. A central cupola stands astride
the ridge, with coupled louvered openings on each face and a slate-shingled

hip roof. A one-story wing extends from the barn's southeast corner.

16. Newfane Store (Main and Depot Streets); ¢.1850

The successor to the Birchard Brothers' original (circa 1826) store on the site,
the present store was constructed after a mid-nineteenth century fire struck the
Birchard building. The two-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded

main block extends six irregularly spaced bays (of two-over-two sash) along its
west (Main Street) eaves facade and four bays across its north (Depot Street)
gable elevation, the slate-shingled gable roof being oriented parallel to

Main Street. The nineteenth-century display windows on the west facade have
been mostly removed and the storefront has been expanded outward.
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A one-and-one-half story ell projects from the rear (east) elevation's north end.
At the opposite end of the main block, a two-story, hip-roofed wing with a second-
story east porch was added in 1971.

A late nineteenth century photograph shows the store in a markedly different
appearance. Lacking the present south wing, the building was shielded on its west
and south facades by a broad two-story veranda with bracketed turned posts and

a second-story turned balustrade. Wood steps stretched two-thirds the length

of the five-bay west veranda, serving two off-center entrances. The veranda

was demolished in the early 1940s.

Although the building has undergone some alterations to adapt to the changing
needs of its continued use as a store, it still contributes to the historic
and visual character of the district; it retains its original form, acts as a
visual closure for the north end of the common, and continues in its historic
role as a general store serving village residents.

ity A former Newfane Depot (Depot Street);, c.1880

The former depot of the abandoned West River Railroad marks the alignment of

the railroad grade at the Depot Street crossing. Retaining its original appearance,
the modest one-story, wood-framed and clapboarded building extends three bays

along its trackside (east) eaves facade, its gable roof sheathed with asphalt
shingles. Chamfered stickwork decorates the gables of the two-bay north

and south elevations; similar outriggers support the deeply overhanging eaves

of the east and west elevations. The two-over-two sash have bracketed sills.
Transomed sliding doors on the east and north elevations distinguish the former
baggage/freight room in the north half of the building, now used primarily for
storage.

18. former Ballou's Cider Mill and Jelly Factory; c¢.1895

Situated north of the former depot (#17), this elongated rather deteriorated
wood-framed and clapboarded building with a corrugated metal-clad gable roof
also parallels the west side of the railroad grade. The building rises one and
one-half stories above the grade along its east eaves elevation; an exposed
basement story appears on its other three elevations. A loading dock extends
along the east elevation, apparently served by a siding of the abandoned
railroad. Constructed circa 1895, the building was used by W. C. Ballou

(the contemporary station agent) for a cider mill and jelly factory and, pro-
bably, his feed and flour warehouse.
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19. former Railroad Water Tower/Maintenance Shed; c¢.1880

Farther north of the former depot (#17), the former enclosed water tank and
maintenance shed of the West River Railroad stands next to the east edge of the
abandoned grade. The wood-framed and clapboarded building rises two stories

to a corrugated metal-clad gable roof oriented parallel to the railroad grade.
Inside the south half of its second story, the building contains a cylindrical
water tank built of wood staves and iron hoops. A stub of the large diameter
pipe used to fill locomotive tenders penetrates the west wall, below which
partly rotted vertical splash boards cover the clapboards. In the north half
of the same elevation, a large trabeated doorway provided entry for track
maintenance equipment, e.g., a speeder.

20. former Higgins Store and Post Office (Main and Depot Street):; 1876

Facing southward past the Newfane Store (#16) toward the Common, this nineteenth
century storefront building retainsits historic appearance. The building was
constructed in 1876 for L. I. Winslow's general store after fire destroyed the
earlier Jones Exchange on the site. The two-and-one-half story, wood-framed and
clapboarded building of L-plan extends five bays along its Main Street (west)
eaves elevation and a total of eight bays along Depot Street. The west four of
the latter bays constitute the main (south) gable facade while the remaining
bays belong to an east ell. The building's gable roofs are sheathed with
corrugated metal.

The south facade is defined by a pedimented gable spanning its four-bay width;
two standard two-over-two sash are set within its clapboarded tympanum. On
the first story, a three-bay storefront possesses deeply embayed one-over-one
display windows flanking a central entrance with double-leaf paneled doors. A
second-story, shed-roofed porch with slender square posts and a scroll-sawn
balustrade corresponds to the width of the storefront beneath it. The fourth
bay of the facade occurs to the right, occupied by an upper-story entrance.

The east ell's four-bay south eaves elevation is marked by a paneled bay window
next to the mainblock's upper-story entrance. A shed-roofed porch spans the
east block's east gable elevation.

A photograph published in 1901 shows the building in a slightly different appearance.

The storefront possessed much smaller display windows set flush with the central

entrance, and the second-story porch had box posts. A secondary entrance existed

near the north end of the west elevation; that entrance has been subsequently

removed in favor of a rear entrance in a small shed-roofed wing attached to the

. north gable elevation. The alteration of the storefront to its present form
occurred after H. J. Batchelder acquired the store from his brother at the turn

of the century.
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20A. Barn; c¢.1850

Standing parallel to Depot Street east of the former Higgins Store (#20) is its
wood-framed, vertical-boarded former barn; the gable roofs of the main block
and west wing are sheathed with corrugated metal. The main block retains a
central multi-pane transom under its south eaves but the original large doorway
has been infilled. The west wing has a full-width porch added to its south
eaves elevation. These alterations reflect the recent conversion of the barn
to commercial usage.

21 Newton-Bush House (Main Street); c¢.1830

One of the earliest houses constructed in Newfane village, this substantial house

with Federal style decorative features was built circa 1830 for Marshall Newton, Jr.

The two-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded house appears similar

in form to the Olds-Davidson House (#13), oriented with its slate-shingled gable
roof parallel to the street, and possessing a five-bay west eaves facade and a
south gable elevation the equivalent of four bays in depth. The present windows
consist almost uniformly of two-over-two sash; however, a pair of apparently
original eight-over-twelve windows distinguishes the south gable; a bay window
has been recently added to the rear (east) elevation.

The symmetrically arranged west facade presents to the street a formal Federal
style central entrance, above which on the second story there exists a comple-
mentary Palladian-motif triptych window. The sidelighted doorway is enframed by
a pilastered surround and a semielliptical fanlight. The triptych window is
comprised of a two-over-two sash flanked by sidelights set within pairs of
pilasters that support a straight entablature.

A one-and-one-half story shed wing extends from the house's north gable elevation,
its first story opened by large sliding barn doors. The north wing's gable
roof is shingled with slate laid in a staggered-butt pattern.

22. Brown House (Main Street); ¢.1860

A modest example of the dominant house type in the historic district, this one-
and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded, three-bay, gable-front house
extends only two bays (of two-over-two sash) in depth; its gable roof is clad
with corrugated metal. A shed-roofed porch spans the west gahle facade. A
one-story south ell with a recessed west entrance porch connects to a one-and-
one-half story south extension. A three-bay, shed-roofed porch extends the
‘ full width of the building's rear (east) elevation, distinguished by round-
arched lattice screcens; the latticework was salvaged from the former Island Park
Pavilion in Brattleboro, demolished after being damaged in the great 1927 flood.
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22A. Garage: c¢.1935

One story; wood-framed; novelty siding; shed roof; one stall with sliding door.

23. Ballou House (Main Street); ¢.1880

Not only its present blue color distinguishes the Ballou House from others in
the Newfane Village Historic District. A very shallow-pitched gable roof and
a broad Queen Anne veranda give it a unique form. The two-story, wood-framed
and clapboarded house stands perpendicular to Main Street; a side-bay entrance
marks the three-bay west facade (with a one-bay north extension on the first
story) while the five-bay south facade has a central entrance.

An eclectic array of ornamental features on the house includes stylized paneled
corner pilasters, paired brackets at the eaves, and peaked lintel boards above
the two-over-two sash. The prominent veranda shields the west and south facades
with bracketed turned posts and a low scroll-sawn balustrade.

A more conventional one-and-one-half story: gable-roofed shed wing is attached
to the rear (east) elevation of the house.

23A. Shed: 19th century

One-story, wood-framed; vertical board siding: metal-sheathed gable roof.

24. Gould House (Main Street); c¢.1840

This one-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded house has been sheathed
with synthetic siding and enlarged with recent one-story south and east wings.
Only the two-bay (of six-over-six sash) west gable elevation retains its original
arrangement; the south eaves facade has been mostly concealed behind a massive
fieldstone fireplace chimney and an enclosed porch. A shed dormer has been added
to the south slope of the slate-shingled gable roof, which retains a center
chimney with a corbeled cap. Non-contributing owing to alterations.

24A. Barn: 19th century

A renovated one-and-one-half story, wood-framed, vertical-boarded barn stands
northeast of the Gould House, oriented with its asphalt-shingled gahle roof
perpendicular to the house; An overhead door has been added to the west elevation.
. A one-story east ell has been recently added to the barn, used for servicing
motor vehicles. Non-contributing, owing to alterations.
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25, Robinson House (Main Street); «¢.1840

A one-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded classic cottage oriented
with its two-bay west gable elevation toward Main Street, the Robinson House
belongs among the several buildings in the historic district that display an
overlay of Gothic Revival elements. In this case, a Gothic Revival three-bay,
slotted-post porch (its balustrade apparently rebuilt with dimension stock)
extends the width of the five-bay south eaves facade, sheltering the central
entrance and providing a view downslope over the village center. The house's
windows are fitted with one-over-one sash. The gable roof has been sheathed
with corrugated metal, and carries interior end chimneys with corbeled caps.

A one-story ell with garage bay at the left projects from the north elevation
of the house.

26. Radway House (Main Street); ¢.1870

This modest one-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded house displays
an eclectic complement of ornamental features. A Gothic Revival slotted-post
porch dominates the two-bay west gable facade, sheltering the right-bay en-
trance whose door possesses round-headed etched glass lights. Slender corner
"pilasters' emulate the form of the porch posts. The two-over-two sash have
peaked lintel boards, and an oculus lights the gable. Paired brackets support
the eaves of the corrugated metal-clad gable roof.

A one-story wing is attached to the house's rear (east) elevation.

26A. CGarage: <¢.1960

One story; wood-framed; clapboarded; gable roof; one stall with overhead door.
Non-contributing owing to age.

27« Sanford House (Main Street); c¢.1840

An unusually wide three-bay (west) gable front gives a distinctive apoearance

to this one-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded house; the side-
lights and peaked lintel board of its central entrance constitute virtually

the only decoration. The house extends two bays (of two-over-two sash) in depth
beneath a gable roof sheathed with corrugated metal.

A one-story wing extends from the rear (east) elevation of the house.
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28. Whitney House (Main Street); c¢.1830

Defining the northeast corner of the Newfane Village Historic District, the
one-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded Whitney House stands atop
the knoll north of the village center. 1Its narrow two-bay (of two-over-two
sash) west gable elevation faces Main Street while an elongated six-bay eaves
facade looks southward into the village. An entrance porch (with one enclosed
bay) spans two-thirds the width of the south facade. Two shed-roofed dormers
interrupt the south eaves of the corrugated metal-clad gable roof.

A one-story shed wing links the house's rear (east) elevation with a vertical
boarded barn, whose gable roof continues the orientation of the other two
blocks; a large double-leaf door enters the barn's south eaves facade.

28A. Shed: <¢.1920

One-story; wood-framed; novelty siding; shallow-pitch roof; double-leaf door
flanked by multi-pane sash; stands south of house in field.

29. Sprague House (Main Street); c¢.1840

Situated diagonally across Main Street to the south of the Whitney House (#28),
this vernacular Greek Revival style, one-and-one-half story, wood-framed and
clapboarded house is oriented with its three-bay east gable front toward the
street. An entrance porch with square pillars is recessed into the house's
southeast corner, causing a one-bay north offset of the six-over-six sash on
the east front's first story; on the south eaves elevation, the porch extends
two bays to an entrance. The gable roof is shingled with slate.

A one-and-one-half story ell with a lower roof (also slate-shingled) projects
from the rear of the house's south elevation. Apparently a former shed, the ell
has been altered with large multi-pane windows flanking an east entrance and

ar exterior chimney on the south gable elevation.

29A. Garage: c¢.1920

One-and-one-half stories; wood-framed; clapboarded; gable roof; two stalls
with double-leaf sliding doors.
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30. Hamlin House (Main Street); c¢.1840

Built by Thurston Robbins, one-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded
"three-quarter'" classic cottage possesses entrances both on its asymmetrical

four-bay south eaves facade and on its three-bay east gable facade. The sidelighted
off-center south doorway is enframed by a molded surround with corner blocks;
the central east doorway is sheltered by a pedimented entrance porch. The window

openings are fitted with two-over-two sash. The gable roof has been sheathed
with asphalt shingles.

A smaller-scaled shed wing with shed dormers on its gable roof links the house's
rear (west) elevation to a small one-and-one-half story gable roofed barn; a
gable roofed shed ell with single bay opening with canted corners is attached

to the latter's southwest corner.

5l Dodge House (Main and Cross Streets); c¢.1860

Shielded by shrubs and trees from the intersecting Main and Cross Streets, the
two-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded Dodge House possesses the
most fully decorated Gothic Revival style porch in the historic district. The
one-bay entrance porch distinguishes the three-bay Cross Street (south) eaves
facade, sheltering its central entrance with slotted posts, cut-out valance,
and pendants dripping from the eaves; the components are formed with trefoil
and quatrefoil motifs.

Flanking the porch, other first-story bays are occupied by slender room-height
coupled, four-over-four sash; on the second story, the windows are reduced

to coupled two-over-two sash of standard height. The same window pattern exists
on the two-bay Main Street (east) gable elevation. An added exterior fireplace
chimney bisects that elevation, rising through the ridge of the slate-shingled
gable roof.

A one-and-one-half story wing extends from the house's west elevation; a two-

bay entrance porch with turned posts, scroll-sawn brackets, and geometrical
balustrade marks the wing's south eaves elevation. A one-story garage ell projects
from the opposite (north) elevation.

31A. Barn; «.1860

A large wood-framed barn with stone foundation and board-and-batten sheathing
stands to the west of the Dodge House, oriented with its corrugated metal-clad
gable roof parallel to the house; a diamond window lights its cast gable.



NPS Form 10-800-a OMB No. 1024-0018
(3-82) Exp. 10-31-84

United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service For NPS use only
'INational Register of Historic Places received
nventory—Nomination Form date entered
Continuation sheet g Iltem number 7 Page 18
32 Edminster-Pratt House (Main and Cross Streets); 1844

Built probably in 1844 for a Dr. Edminster, this one-and-one-half story, wood-
framed house has been sheathed with synthetic siding. The two-bay Main Street
(east) gable elevation displays twelve-over-twelve sash on the first story and
eight-over-twelves on the second story. The three-bay south eaves facade has
a rear-bay entrance protected by a one-bay pedimented porch. The gable roof
has been clad with asphalt shingles.

A similar-scaled, four-bay wing extends westward from the main block with an
entrance on its Cross Street (north) eaves elevation. A garage has been added
to the rear (west) end of the wing.

The house may have been originally constructed c¢.1790 on Newfane Hill and
later dismanteled and moved to the village.

38 Witte House (Main Street); c¢.1850

Another one-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded house oriented
with a nominally three-bay gable elevation toward the street, the Witte House
is distinguished by a Gothic Revival veranda with bracketed slotted posts that
dominates both its Main Street (east) elevation and south eaves facade. The
veranda extends four bays in each direction, from a one-bay north extension

of the east elevation around the southeast corner to the central transomed
entrance on the five-bay south facade. The window openings are fitted with
two-over-two sash. A metal-sheathed extension of the slate-shingled gable
roof's south slope has been added atop the veranda roof to carry snow over

the latter.

A one-story wing extends from the house's rear (west) elevation.

33A. Shed; ¢.1850

Unique in the Newfane Village Historic District for its Gothic Revival appearance,
this one-and-one-half story, wood-framed, gable-roofed shed stands to the south-
west of the Witte House; board-and-batten siding and a Tudor-arched, double-leaf
entrance give the building its stylistic distinction.
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34 . McCracken House (Main Street); c¢.1830

This one-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded, gable-roofed house
oriented with a three-bay gable front toward the street is distinguished by a
two-bay porch with box posts that spans the Main Street (east) gable facade

and its left-bay entrance. The house extends three bays (of two-over-two sash)
in depth along the north and south eaves elevations. The north slope of the roof
retains slate shingles laid in a staggered-butt pattern while the south slope has
been sheathed with asphalt shingles.

A one-story west wing with a recessed south entrance porch links the house to a
two-and-one-half story, clapboarded barn; a partial second story in the barn is
finished with plaster and lathe, and may have been used as a wheelwright's shop.

35. Eames House (Main Street); <c¢.1830

A two-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded, gable-roofed house that
extends (along with its north attachments) parallel to Main Street, the Eames

House probably predates by many decades it%& Queen Anne decorative features. A
two-story, hip-roofed polygonal tower with enlarged two-over-two sash and paneled
spandrels protrudes from the east eaves facade south of the central entrance.
Abutting the tower, a porch with bracketed turned posts and geometrically patterned
balustrade spans the balance of the facade, including two bays of standard
two-over-two sash north of the central entrance.

The three-bay south gable elevation shows evidence that the house has been en-
larged from an original depth of two bays, the gable peak being centered above
the right (east) pair of bays. The west slope of the roof has a shallower pitch
than the east slope, extending over the asymmetrical left (west) bay.

A one-and-one-half story north wing is recessed from the main block's facade
line with its own east entrance porch. The wing's shed-dormered gable roof is
shingled with slate laid in a lapped-butt pattern, matching that on the larger-
scale attached barn to the north; large sliding doors beneath an elongated
transom open the barn's east eaves elevation.

367 Vermont National Bank (Main Street); 1884

George A. Hines of nearby Brattleboro designed Newfane's singular bank building
in an eclectic manner influenced by the contemporary Richardsonian Romanesque
style. Constructed by A. W. Stowe and Son in 1884, the one-and-one-half story,
rusticated granite-trimmed, gable-roofed brick building shares both the domestic
scale and the gable front orientation that predominate among the buildings in
the historic district.
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Above a granite foundation, the richly decorated three-bay Main Street (east)
facade is built of pressed brick (with white mortar) laid in five-course
American bond. A central vertical axis leads upward from the granite steps,
passing the paneled double-leaf doorway and its transom and granite lintel, to

a raised granite sign block reading '"18 BANK 84'; above the sign block, the cor-
beled surround of an inset granite-framed, pointed-arch gable window rises to a
round head trimmed with granite impost blocks and keystone. The first-story
side bays are occupied by oversize transomed four-over-four sash (of "double
thick french glass'') framed by granite sills and lintels and surmounted by blind
round arches also highlighted by granite imposts and keystones.

On the four-bay south eaves elevation, the windows lack the transoms and sur-
mounting decorative elements but are flanked by blank metal shutters. Cor-
beled courses along the top of the wall surface support the galvanized metal
box cornice. The north elevation shares the same masonry window framing but
omits the glazing in favor of brick infill, apparently a characteristic of the
original design.

The slopes of the slate-shingled gable roof exceed the height of the eaves
elevations, rising at a steep pitch to an acute peak. A central double-flue
chimney stands astride the ridge, its shaft bearing round-headed niches sur-
mounted by a corbeled cap.

The interior of the bank retains most of its original fabric. A banking room
occupies the front half of the main floor, bisected diagonally by a curvilinear
counter overlaid with a broad butternut surface molded along the outer edge.

A low metal screen - cut down from its original room height - surmounts the
counter, incorporating tellers' wickets. Matched and beaded wainscotting
sheathes both the counter front and the wall surfaces below the level of the
windows. The windows and doors are set within molded surrounds. A paneled
double-leaf doorway leads into a south rear office that flanks the vault. The
original ceiling has been concealed behind a circa 1960 suspended ceiling.

37. Newfane Inn (Main and Court Streets); 1787, moved 1825

Originally, constructed in 1787 at the Hill village, the main block of the inn
was moved in 1825 for its contemporary owner, Anthony Jones, to its present
site overlooking the Common. The Federal style, two-and-one-half story, wood-
framed building of L plan has been sheathed with synthetic siding but retains
slate shingles on its gable roofs. The inn actually constitutes an unusual
example of continuous architecture, being comprised of five attached units of
the same scale; the main block at the corner of Main and Court Streets, the
north ell along Main Street, the west wing along Court Street, the recessed

west shed wing, and the offset barn (the latter two also parallel to Court Street).
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On the pedimented Main Street (east) gable elevation, a similar entrance occupies
a right bay; its doorway is flanked by pilasters bearing a Doric entablature.
The second-story bay above the entrance contains a triptych window like that
above the entrance of the Newton-Bush House (#21), a short distance to the north.

The inn's north ell projects four bays along Main Street, its east eaves
elevation following the plane of the main block's east elevation and sharing

a similar appearance. The ell's north gable elevation is also subdivided into
four bays.

The west wing of the inn matches the main.block in size. The first story of
the south eaves elevation is now subdivided into eight bays while the second
story has five bays. A simplified version of the main block's east entrance
occupies the easternmost bay of the wing's first story. During the middle
nineteenth century, a three-bay storefront occupied the middle of the facade;
it consisted of a central entrance flanked by expansive fifteen-over-fifteen
sash. By 1925, the storefront had been replaced with two of the present six-
over-six sash and a relocated doorway. Subsequently, both that doorway and
original coupled twelve-over-twelve sash to the left of the wing's main
entrance have been removed in favor of standard sash.

Attached to the northwest corner of the west wing, the inn's shed wing forms

a courtyard in front of its south eaves facade. Four open carriage stalls
with angled upper corners occupy the first story while standard sash light the
second story. The slate roof is laid in a lapped-butt pattern.

Offset southward from the shed wing's southwest corner, the inn's barn (and
former horse stable) approaches the facade line of the main block with its south
eaves elevation. The barn is sheathed with novelty siding, and its roof is

clad with stamped metal. Ten horse-stall windows are speced regularly along

the south elevation.

Although the inn's two-story veranda remains its dominant feature, the building

formerly possessed a more extensive array of porches. For at least a century

prior to its collapse in the 1960's, a single-level, five-bay porch with bracketed

turned posts (but no balustrade) spanned the south of the west wing. A shorter
' five-bay, balustraded porch with box posts was added circa 1915 to the east

elevation of the main block and north ell, centered on the existing entrance;

that porch was removed circa 1940.
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38. 0dd Fellows Building (Court and West Streets); c¢.1830

The main block of this Federal style, two-and-one-half story, wood-framed and
clapboarded building with a slate-shingled gable roof corresponds to the Newfane
Inn at the opposite end of Court Street. Its Court Street (south) eaves facade
extends four bays of coupled six-over-one sash while the narrow east and west
gable elevations have only two bays of single sash. The easternmost section

of the main block's gable roof, while of the same slope as the rest of the roof,
rises to a slighly lower ridge. A full-width south porch consisting of a
mortared river-stone rail supporting eight slender columns spans the facade.
Twin off-center transomed entrances are framed by molded surrounds.

Similar-scaled ells project from both the northeast and northwest corners of

the main block. A shed-roofed entrance vestibule occupies the interior corner
formed by the eastward offset of the four-bay northeast ell from the main

block; the northwest ell is offset almost the two-bay width of its south gable
elevation from the corner of the main block, and extends only two bays in length.

Constructed circa 1830 for Anthony Jones, the building contained tenements

and was called the '"long building" during the nineteenth century. A federal
judge acquired the building around the turn of the century, and some of its
rooms were then used as offices during sessions of the county court. Sub-
sequently the local I1.0.0.F. occupied a hall on the second story, and, for

a half century after 1910, part of the first story served as Newfane's telephone
exchange. In 1971, the building was converted to apartments.

38A. Barn; 19th century

A short distance northeast of the 0dd Fellows Building stands this one-and-
one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded barn, its gable roof oriented
parallel to Court Street.

39. Kimball-Benedict House (West Street); 1832

Constructed in 1832 for Pardon T. Kimball, the Kimball-Benedict House con-
stitutes the outstanding example of Greek Revival style domestic archi-
tecture in the Newfane Village Historic District. The house faces toward the
Common from its West Street site behind the Windham County Court House (#1),
and its tetrastyle temple front in a simplified Ionic order echoes the Court
House's tetrastyle Doric front. Converted to an inn circa 1966, the two-and-
one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded building has a rectangular plan
extending three bays (of two-over-two-sash) in each direction; its moderately
pitched gable roof has been sheathed with asphalt shingles.
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The east gable front displays a tetrastyle portico with fluted Ionic columns that
rise from granite bases to support the horizontal entablature of the pedimented
gable. A large semielliptical-arched opening (with a molded surround) in the
clapboarded tympanum reveals a balcony now enclosed with windows installed behind
the balustrade. The facade's central entrance is flanked by undivided two-
thirds sidelights set within a molded surround with corner and header blocks.

The south eaves elevation is marked by a two-story bay window with paneled
spandrels and molded cornices. The north eaves elevation has a two-story,
flat-roofed pavilion attached toward the rear of the house.

A one-and-one-half story wing with a south entrance porch extends from the
house's rear (west) elevation. The wing is linked by a one-story, flat-roofed
passageway to the house's former barn (#39A).

39A. former Kimball-Benedict Barn; 19th century, altered c.1966

Conversion of the premises to an inn (circa 1966) has brought significant
alteration to the large wood-framed and clapboarded, gable-roofed barn. The
interior was previously finished with hardwood wainscoting and contained about
eight box stalls. Now subdivided internally into two stories, the building
has received a sidelighted central entrance on its east gable front, numerous
windows, and shed dormers on both slopes of its asphalt-shingled roof. A
large central cupola similar in design to that on Barn #15A appears original.

A one-and-one-half story, three-bay ell with an east porch has been added to
the barn's south eaves elevation. A one-story, flat-roofed passageway has been
constructed to link the barn with the house's west wing.

The form, massing and cupola of the barn identify its historic role. However,
numerous recent alterations (which may be reversible) make the building non-
contributing in its present state.

39B. Shed: 19th century

One-and-one-half stories; wood-framed, clapboarded, gable roof, shed-roofed
north wing, stands south of former barn (#39A) at edge of field.

40. Moore Free Library (West Street); ¢.1840, 1897-98

Newfane's public library consists of a main block constructed in 1897-98

and the original circa 1840 Moore House, now in a subsidiary position behind

the main block. Philura C. Moore contributed the enlarged building to the

town and served as the first librarian. The two-and-one-half story, wood-

framed and clapboarded main block stands on a dressed granite foundation, oriented
with its slate-shingled gable roof perpendicular to the street.
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The four-bay east gable front has a right-bay entrance sheltered bya projecting
flat-roofed entrance porch with triple chamfered posts at its front corners

and a molded cornice. A paneled bay window with standard one-over-one

sash surmounted by a molded cornice protrudes from the facade's left side; an
identical bay window occurs near the rear of the five-bay south eaves elevation.

Upon construction of the main block, the original one-and-one-half story

house was moved back from the street and turned ninety degrees to become a

west wing. A central gabled pavilion with curvilinear cut-out bargeboards pro-
jects from the wing's south elevation; its recessed porch with paneled pillars
serves a sidelighted central entrance enframed by pilasters and entablature.
Two bays of six-over-six sash flank the entrance on the right while a trabeated
shed opening exists to the left.

40A. Barn; 19th century

Standing to the rear (west) of the Moore Free Library, this two-story, wood-
framed and clapboarded barn with a slate-shingled gable roof continues the
alignment of the main building; a sliding door enters its south eaves elevation.

41. Church House (West Street); c¢.1840

This small-scale, one-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded house
with a slate-shingled gable roof shows a two-bay (of two-over-two sash) east
gable elevation to West Street. The four closely spaced bays of the south
eaves facade include an off-center entrance sheltered by a diminutive one-bay
porch with bracketed posts.

A smaller-scale west wing has been rccently expanded by the addition of an
enclosed south porch. Attached to the wing and continuing the same orientation
is a small clapboarded barn.

42, Underwood House (West Street); c¢.1840

The singular example in the Newfane Village Historic District of a three-bay
[-house, the wood-framed and clapboarded Underwood House rises two stories to

a slate-shingled gable roof. The three-bay west eaves facade possesses a
central entrance flanked by louvered shutters in the position of sidelights and
set within a fluted surround incorporating corner and header blocks. The

single-bay (of six-over-six sash) north and south elevations are crowned by pediments.

OMB No. 1024-0018
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A one-and-one-half story ell projects from the house's rear (east) elevation;
an entrance porch marks the south elevation of the ell.

43. Congregational Parsonage (West Street); ¢.1880

Construction of the Congregational Parsonage circa 1880 completed the develop-
ment of the West Street neighborhood. The two-and-one-half story, wood-framed
and clapboarded house of irregular plan has a cross-gable roof shingled with
slate. A shed-roofed porch with chamfered posts spans the three-bay east
gable facade (with a right-bay entrance) and continues around the southeast
corner to meet a projecting two-bay south pavilion. A first-story bay window
protrudes from the pavilion. The standard window openings are fitted with
two-over-two sash.

A one-and-one-half story wing extends from the rear (west) elevation of the
house; an entrance porch marks its south eaves elevation and the south slope
of its roof carries a shed dormer.

-

44 . Merrifield-Howe House (West Street); c¢.1840

Charles Merrifield built this one-and-one-half story, wood-framed and
clapboarded house circa 1850, orienting its gable roof perpendicular to the
street; a renovation circa 1920 altered the openings in its east gable

facade and added the shed dormers to its presently asphalt-shingled roof.
Having lost one of the original window bays, the two-bay east front

contains a sidelighted, transomed right-bay entrance (shifted from its
original left-bay position) and, in the left bay, a triptych window con-
sisting of a standard two-over-two sash flanked by one-over ones (the original
two window bays had standard two-over-two sash). The front porch with turned
posts, scroll-sawn brackets, and a geometrical balustrade turns the southeast
corner and meets a two-story bay window centered on the three-bay south eaves
elevation. Beyond the bay window, a gabled one-bay porch also added circa 1920
shelters a secondary entrance.

A smaller-scale shed wing extends from the rear (west) elevation, linking
the house to a clapboarded barn.

45. Higgins-Maher House (West Street); ¢.1850

An unusual portico with Gothic Revival octagonal corner columns distinguishes
the three-bay west gable front of this one-and-one-half story, wood-framed
and clapboarded house. Also distinctive is the fish-scale stamped metal

that sheathes the gable roof. The deeply recessed porch shelters a side-
lighted right-bay entrance set within a fluted surround with corner blocks.
The three-bay (of two-over-two sash) north and south caves elevations are
lighted also by kneewall windows.




NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No. 10.4-0018
(3:82) Exp. 10-31-84

United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service For &ps use o..'.;f
National Register of Historic Places = receved
Inventory—Nomination Form podteeniseed o

Continuation sheet 26 Item number 7 Page 26

A smaller-scale rear (east) wing with shed-roofed dormers links the house

to a former carriage barn oriented perpendicular to the other blocks. Sheathed
with novelty siding, the barn has been altered by an encircling window band
added immediately below the eaves line. The west eaves facade retains its
central double-leaf sliding doors.

46. Park-Morse House (West Street); c¢.1852

Among the several buildings in the Newfane Village Historic District that dis-
play elements of the Gothic Revival style, the Morse House constitutes the most
fully developed example. The one-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clap-
boarded I-house was constructed circa 1852 for Elihu Park. Oriented parallel
to the street, its steeply pitched gable roof (clad with corrugated metal) and
its central gabled wall dormer possess deeply overhanging raking eaves de-
corated with curvilinear openwork bargeboards and pendants at the gable peaks.
The slender two-over-two sash reach room height on the first story; kneewall
windows occur under the horizontal eaves, and a blind oculus marks each gable
peak. On the five-bay east eaves facade, a sidelighted, transomed entrance is
centered beneath the wall dormer. A three-bay porch with slotted posts and
scroll-sawn brackets spans the facade.

A one-story ell with a west entrance porch projects from the house's rear
(west) elevation; a former shed wing with a slate roof extends beyond the
ell.

46A. Shed: ¢.1920

One-and-one-half stories, wood-framed, novelty siding, gable roof with shed
dormers, double-leaf door.

47. Mason-Schaaf House (West Street); c¢.1850

The Gothic Revival slotted-post porch of this one-and-one-half story, wood-
framed and clapboarded house built for Anthony Mason matches that on the
adjacent Park-Morse House (#46). However, the house's dominant stylistic
feature is a Queen Anne two-story polygonal tower that occupies the southeast
corner rising above the valley between the east and south gables of the
slate-shingled transverse-gable roof. Similar to the tower on the Chase-
Maher House (#15), this tower rises through a dogtooth frieze band and molded
cornice to a bellcast pyramidal-peaked roof culminating in a finial. To the

‘ right of the tower, the four regular bays of the east gable facade include a

sidelighted central entrance set within a fluted surround with corner and
header blocks. The window openings are fitted with one-over-one and two-
over-two sash (paired in the front gable).




NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No 10. 1 0018
(3-82) Exp. 10-31-84

United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service e s e
ational Register of Historic Places fecelved s

Inventory—Nomination Form dateentered

Continuation sheet 77 Item number - Page 77

A smaller-scale west wing possesses an entrance porch on its south elevation;
the wing links the house to a clapboarded barn with a slate roof laid in a
staggered-butt pattern.

48. Eager House (West Street); c.1840

A vernacular expression of the Greek Revival style built by Otis Warren, this
one-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded house presents to West

Street a four-bay west gable front dominated by a full width, one story shed
roofed porch whose four fluted columns support an eaves entablature. The

porch shelters the off-center sidelighted entrance and the flanking bays of
six-over-six sash. Both the raking eaves of the gable front and the hori-

zontal eaves of the three-bay north and south elevations carry full entablatures.
The gable roof is sheathed with corrugated metal.

A one-story rear (east) wing links the house to a small clapboarded barn that
follows the orientation of the other blocks.

-

48A. Garage: <¢.1920

One-and-one-half stories; wood-framed, novelty siding, gable roof, double-
leaf doors.

49, Rice House (West Street); ¢.1840

Another example of the Greek Revival influence on Newfane architecture, the
two-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded Rice House with a
slate-shingled gable roof corresponds to the Buttery House (#9) in its orienta-
tion, presenting to West Street a five-bay (east) eaves facade. The two

bay gable ends have full pediments. Unlike the Buttery House, this house
possesses a symmetrical facade arranged around a sidelighted central entrance
with a peaked lintel board. Six-over-six sash occupy the window bays. An
added exterior chimney bisects the south gable elevation, interrupting the
pediment.

A short one-and-one-half story shed ell projects from the rear (west) elevation,
linking the house to a clapboarded barn with added window openings.
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49A. Shed: 19th century

One-and-one-half stories, wood-framed, clapboarded, gable roof, two trabeated
openings on north eaves elevation.

50. Wild House (West Street); ¢.1840

Built by Otis and Arthur T. Warren, this one-and-one-half story, wood-framed

and clapboarded, gable-roofed house shares with several other houses in the
historic district a three-bay gable front overlaid with Gothic Revival decora-
tive features. In this case, the most prominent is the shed-roofed porch

with slotted posts and scroll-sawn brackets that spans the west facade, sheltering
the sidelighted right-bay entrance and the flanking bays of two-over-two sash.

The front gable of the slate-shingled roof carries scroll-sawn bargeboards with

a wave profile. A bay window protrudes from the rear of the two-bay south

eaves elevation.

A one-story rear (east) wing has a south eptrance porch with slotted posts;
attached to the rear of the wing, a small clapboarded barn projects per-
pendicularly southward.

51. Johnson-Field House (West Street); c¢.1840

The wood frame of this one-and-one-half story house derives from the first
framed house in Newfane, built in 1768 by Jonathan Park on a site north of

the Newfane Inn (#37). The present clapboarded house with a slate-shingled
gable roof was built circa 1840 for Orison Johnson; it stands perpendicular

to West Street with its two-bay east gable elevation toward the street. The
three-bay south eaves facade contains the central entrance set within a fluted
surround with corner and header blocks. Twelve-over-twelve sash occupy the
window openings, excepting a bay window added to the north elevation.

A one-story west wing with a bay window on its south eaves elevation links
the house to a clapboarded former barn. In the 1920s, Charles K. Field, a
contemporary radio personality, converted the barn to a theatre containing a
stage, dressing rooms, and balconies; additional windows and shed dormers

on both slopes of the gable roof reflect that conversion. A south garage
ell has been added to the former barn.
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52. Warren House (West and Cross Streets); 1836

This one-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded, gable-roofed house is
oriented with its three-bay (west) gable front toward West Street. It was the
builder, Otis Warren's own house. A small gabled porch is now all that shelters
its right-bay sidelighted entrance. A paneled bay window fitted with standard
two-over-two sash marks the two-bay south eaves elevation. The asphalt-shingled
roof carries a full-length shed dormer on its south slope and a pair of gabled
dormers on the north slope.

A one-story east wing with an enclosed south porch links the house to a one-
and-one-half story shed whose gable roof follows the alignment of the other blocks.

52A. Garage; ¢.1960

One-and-one-half stories, wood-framed, novelty siding, gable roof, two stalls
with overhead doors. Non-contributing owing to age.

-

5%, Bates House (West Street); ¢.1850

Now adapted to a residence and a clockmaker's shop, this unembellished, rectangular
two-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded building with a slate-

shingled gable roof served previously as a small factory and an inn. Its east
eaves facade extends eight closely spaced bays along the street, the sidelighted
central entrance taking a position corresponding to two window bays (of two-
over-two sash) on the second story. The north and south gable elevations ex-

tend four bays in depth; a curved bay window has been recently added to the north
elevation.

A one-story wing extends from the building's southwest corner, possessing
its own east entrance beneath a cross gable.

Until its removal c¢.1950, a veranda with bracketed turned posts spanned both

the east and south elevations of the main block. The building served originally
as a wagon and wheel factory. The veranda represents its adaptation to

an inn during the first half of the present century.

S3A. Barn; 19th century

A one-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded barn stands northwest
of the Bates House, its asphalt-shingled gable roof oriented perpendicular to
. the main building; a diagonal-boarded sliding door enters its east gable facade.
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54. Cushing House (Cross Street); c¢.1880

The one-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded, gable-roofed Cushing
House possesses a five-bay south eaves facade oriented toward Cross Street.

A three-bay porch with turned posts, scroll-sawn brackets, and dimension-
stock balustrade extends the width of the facade, sheltering its central
entrance and flanking bays of one-over-one sash. The south slope of the main
roof retains slate shingles while the north slope has been mostly replaced

by a shed-roofed second story that projects over a north wing.

A one-story west wing serves as a passageway to an attached one story, one
stall, gable-front, clapboarded garage whith formerly served as a woodshed..

55. Rhodes House (Cross Street); c¢.1935

This one-and-one-half story, wood-framed, clapboarded house is set back from
Cross Street on a rise; the ridge of its gable roof is oriented parallel to
the street. A shed dormer runs across the”rear (north) slope of the roof. A
smaller scale gabled wing with three part picture window extends from the
west end of the main block. Although of later construction date than many
buildings in the district, it echoes their scale, massing, form and materials.

56. Whitcomb House (Cross Street); c¢.1925

This one-story; four-by-two bay wood-framed, clapboarded gable roofed house
is, like its neighbor, #55, set back from Cross Street on a slight hill.
The eaves-front facade has a recessed entrance porch on the west end. A
shed-roofed wing extends from the rear of the main block.

57 Paige House (West Street); ¢.1880, moved c¢.1920

This small one-story, two-by-two bay wood-framed, clapboarded, gable-roofed
structure has two-over-two sash and a porch on the west gable facade. It was
formerly a barber shop and was moved c¢.1920 from its original Depot Street
site east of #20.

58. Jameson House (West Street); ¢.1840

The unusual arrangement of this Greek Revival style, one-and-one-half story,
‘ wood-framed and clapboarded, gable-roofed house places its main entrance
in the rear bay of its three-bay south eaves facade rather than on the three-
bay east gable elevation facing West Street. Pilasters, transom, and en-
tablature enframe the south entrance, and corner pilasters support the eaves
entablature that encircles the house. The window openings are fitted with
six-over-six sash. The roof is sheathed with corrugated metal.
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58A. Barn; 19th century

A small one-and-one-half story, wood-framed, gable-roofed barn sheathed with
novelty siding stands south of the Jameson House (#58); sliding doors enter
its east gable facade.

59. Edwards-Crispe House (West Street); c.1840

The former Edwards farm defines the northwest corner of the Newfane Village
Historic District. The substantial Greek Revival style house and a large
barn are set back somewhat from West Street, the house being shaded by mature
deciduous trees. A three-rail board fence encloses the front (west) grounds
of the buildings.

Standing on a granite foundation, the two-and-one-half story, wood-framed
and clapboarded, gable-roofed house shares the orientation of the stylistically

similar Buttery and Rice Houses (#9 and 49): it presents to the street a
symmetrical five-bay (west) eaves facade rather than the pedimented gable form
of the three-bay north and south elevations. Twin paneled bay windows

(presumably added during the later nineteenth century) flank the central

west entrance and its one-bay open porch whose balustraded roof serves as a
balcony for a second story doorway. Two-over-two sash occupy the other
openings, including one within each pediment. The roof is shingled with slate.

A rear (east) ell of the same scale follows the plane of the main block's
south elevation; an entrance porch and partly altered fenestration mark both
the north and south eaves elevations of the ell.

59A. Barn; 19th century

A large wood-framed and clapboarded, gable-roofed barn stands north of the
Edward-Crispe House (#59), oriented perpendicular to the house's main block.
The south eaves elevation of the barn is entered by diagonal-boarded, double-
leaf sliding doors. An oculus lights its west gable. Centered atop the
corrugated metal-clad roof is a square cupola with louvered faces and a bell-
cast cap. A shed-roofed extersion forms the rear (north) portion of the barn.



8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below
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Specific dates /5 Builder/Architect N /\

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

The Newfane Village Historic District represents a small rural county seat that
developed principally during the relatively short span of the second quarter of

the nineteenth century and that retains essentially intact its 19th to early 20th
century architectural character. The village's buildings display an extraordinarily
homogeneous appearance, generally being domestic-scaled vernacular interpretations
of the Greek Revival and Gothic Revival styles; early 20th century structures main-
tain the scale, form, massing and in some cases emulate the design of the earlier
buildings. Landmark public and commercial buildings around the Village Common
include some excellent examples of more high-style expressions of architectural
design. Focused on the Court House (#1) and its Common, the complementing
vernacular buildings, many exhibiting attached wings, ells and barns in the manner
of "continuous architecture'', form a highly cohesive and distinctive entity largely
unscathed by twentieth century changes and intrusions. Newfane village retains

its primacy in county government despite the emergence of much larger towns in
Windham County, an evolution that elsewhere in Vermont has usually caused the

shift of the county seat to the larger center.

The development of what became Newfane village began in two different locations
during the 1760s and 1770s. In 1768 (six years prior to the townships organization),
Jonathan Park constructed the first frame house on a site north of the present
Newfane Inn (#37). However, a hilltop two miles to the west attracted more
concentrated settlement, and a small village emerged there. Owing to the per-
sistent efforts of Judge Luke Knowlton - an original proprietor, land grantee,

and storekeeper - the seat of Windham County was moved in 1787 from Westminster

to Newfane Hill (coincidentally, almost the geographical center of the county),
bringing the county court house and jail with it. The original block of the

Newfane Inn was built during the same decade at the hilltop crossroads.

By the early nineteenth century, the village at Newfane Hill had expanded to
include a meeting house, an academy, two hotels, three stores, various shops, and
some twenty houses. Anthony Jones owned the Inn mentioned above, and, in 1822,
Austin and Roger Birchard established their store at the village.

Meanwhile settlement had continued on '"Park's Flats,' as the nearly level area
along Smith Brook was known. Small water-powcred mills were built along the

brook but development proceeded slowly until 1825. In that year, Jonathan and
Ephraim Park donated four acres to the '"inhabitants of the County of Windham"

for the site of a new county court house and jail, and the county seat was shifted
the two miles downhill to a 'place more convenient of access.'" Deacon Jonathan
Park declined the honor of lending his name to the place so a compromise,
Fayetteville, was chosen in favor of the Marquis de Lafayette, who had visited

the United States in 1824.
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The county's new Court House (#1) was erected in 1825 on Jonathan Park's one-and-
one-third acre portion of the Common. A short distance to the east, the new County
Jail (#14) was built on Ephraim Park's two-and-two-thirds acre portion of the
donated land. The two buildings cost the county $10,000.

The county buildings quickly attracted the usual components of a village center,
several of which literally slid down the hill (on the ox-powered sledges of the
period) from the former county seat. The Newfane Inn's main block (#37), the
Olds-Davidson House (#13), the Jones-Underwood<€rowell House (#4, rebuilt from

the original county jail on the hill), and others made the trip. Austin and
Roger Birchard moved their business to the new center in 1825, and erected the
predecessor of the present Newfane Store (#16) within a year or so.

The Court House served also as a temporary meeting house during its early vears.
About 1830, members of the various religious societies joined together to form
"The Liberal and Charitable Christian Society of Newfane,'" and proceeded in 1832
to build a Union Church (#5), probably the first expression of the Gothic Revival
style in the village. The same year, Pardon T. Kimball chose the Greek Revival
style for his new house (#39) whose Ionic tetrastyle portico overlooks the Common
from West Street. 1In 1839, after having withdrawn from the Union Church, the
Congregationalists erected their $4,000, 300-seat, decoratively Gothic church
(#2) next to Kimball's domestic temple.

Fayetteville expanded rapidly during its first two decades. Many of the houses
along Main and West Streets were built in this period, and several display

Gothic Revival decorative elements probably inspired by the two churches. During
the same decades, however, the population of Newfane township began to recede from
its historical maximum of 1,506 reached in 1820; the number declined to 1304

by 1850.

Anthony Jones was the principal developer of the new village. In addition to the
transplanted inn, Jones owned the so-called "long building" (#38), a store, and
several houses including his own (#4) on Church Street. At some point around
1840, Jones undertook his most ambitious project; called the Jones Exchange and
intended to contain a hotel and store, the building (on the site of the present
#20) was the largest ever constructed in the village. However, the venture soon
failed and Jones left Fayetteville in 1844. The building itself was destroyed

by fire in 1874.

In 1853, the county buildings received improvements worth $13,000 ($3,000 more
than their original cost a quarter-century earlier). The Court House was trans-
formed to its present high-style Greek Revival appearance by the addition of its
Doric tetrastyle portico. In contrast to the Court House, the Union Church was
abandoned the same year by the Universalists (the survivors of the union), and
the building was left to weather for two decades.
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The westward exodus from Vermont following the Civil War kept Newfane's population
on the decline (down to 1,113 in 1870). The village, however, held its own owing
partly to the activities of county government. In 1872, the deteriorating Union
Church was repaired with public funds and converted to a Town Hall. The Jones
Exchange fire of 1874 left a temporary gap but in 1876 the present store building
(#20) was erected for L. I. Winslow, successor merchant to the Birchard brothers.
At the 1877 publication of the history commemorating Newfane's first century,
Fayetteville consisted of two hotels, two stores, one grist and saw mill, two
blacksmith shops, two carriage factories, and fifty houses in addition to the
public buildings and church. Most remain today.

Since the middle 1860s, railroad promoters had been laying plans to link Newfane
with Vermont's rapidly expanding rail network. Ground was finally broken at the
county seat in 1878 for the construction of a narrow-gauge line along the West
River valley to Brattleboro and a connection with the main line there. The first
train of the optimistically named Brattleboro and Whitehall Railroad arrived

in Newfane on November 18, 1880. Service on the lightly built branch line

proved notoriously slow and unreliable and the railroad's effect on Fayetteville's
development was slight. -

That result was not anticipated in the initial flush of enthusiasm over the
railroad. The trustees of the Windham County Savings Bank (founded in 1854 by
Austin Birchard and others) may have been moved by such thinking in 1884 when
they commissioned George A. Hines of Brattleboro to design their new bank
building (#36). Hines created an eclectic, vaguely Romanesque design for the
modestly scaled brick block - the first brick structure in the village - and he
specified of the labor and materials required for construction that such labor
and such materials must be of the best of their several kinds..." The bank was
completed in December, 1884: a century later, the finely crafted building con-
tinues to demonstrate that Hines' specification was achieved.

Although Fayetteville never outgrew its agricultural background, Child's 1884
business directory records a modicum of industrial activity in the village.

The largest enterprise was Davenport and Underwood's saw mill and turning works
situated on Smith Brook near the intersection of West and Cross Streets. That
firm employed twenty men at its steam-powered mill, and produced $2,000

worth of lumber per month. The firm's production may have included some of the
turned architectural components that embellish village buildings.

By the 1880's, the name of the village was gradually changing from Fayetteville
to that of the township. The Post Office adopted the name '"Newfane' in 1882
but the appellation '"Fayetteville' persisted in town records until 1898. The
change must have been commonly accepted by 1901, when an illustrated review

of county towns (Picturesque Putney, Newfane, Townshend and Jamaica) referred
to "what was formerly called Fayetteville."
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The village received another public building near the Common in 1898. Philura

C. Moore enlarged her West Street house to convert it to the Moore Free Library
(#40), offering "a commodious and well-lighted room, handsomely finished in
quartered oak and provided with all of the modern accessories,'" according to
Picturesque Newfane. Mrs. Moore became its first librarian, and willed the
building to the town upon her decease in 1915.

Picturesque Newfane also describes a contemporary social institution probably
unique to Newfane, the County Jail with its attached Windham Cointy Hotel (#14).
""The fact that the jail of the county is situated in one part of this commodious
building, is no disparagement of the solid merits of the hotel that is here

conducted." 1In one respect, the hotel served both the lawyers and jurors who
stayed in its twenty-five guest rooms and the inmates lodged in the cells down
the hall: '"The prisoners in the jail are boarded by (the hotelkeeper) at the
expense of the state.'" This arrangement continued until the hotel was

closed in the 1940s.

Activity around Newfane's depot increased in 1900 when W. C. Ballou, the enter-
prising station agent, opened the adjacent,cider mill and jelly factory (#18).
Using steam-powered equipment, the mill processed apples grown on local farms.
The enthusiastic writer of Picturesque Newfane praised Ballou's jelly as ''a
relish fit for a king, or a hearty Vermonter."

A much-anticipated improvement in the railroad itself occurred in the summer

of 1905. The track of the reorganized West River Railroad was widened to
standard gauge to gain interchangeability of rolling stock with the main line

at Brattleboro. Over the next two decades, however, emerging highway competition
diverted much of the railroad's traffic.

Newfane village never suffered a major conflagration owing largely to the
detached spacing of its wood buildings. Following the Jones Ixchange fire of
1874, the next significant building was lost circa 1915 when the Field House
burned; that elegantly detailed Federal style house had been moved to the corner
of Main and West Streets from its original site at the Hill village, and
balanced the contemporary Olds-Davidson House (#13) on the south side of the
Common. The present Pratt House (#6) was built 1916-17 in a simplified Colonial
Revival style intended to emulate its predecessor.

The succeeding decades of the present century have brought few substantial
changes to Newfane's historic environment. In 1936, the Windham County
Historical Society's museum (#12) was erected to become the village's second
brick building. An historical epoch ended the same yezr when the West River
Railroad was abandoned, victim of the 1927 flood and highway competition.

. The Newfane Depot (#17) and an unusual enclosed water tank (#19) remain standing
to mark its right-of-way; the latter building is possibly the only surviving
example of its type in Vermont, a railroad structure rendered obsolete by the
shift from steam to diesel locomotives.
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Twenty years after the railroad's demise, the village lost to demolition (in 1956)
the hotel half of its dual-function jail building (#14). Subsequently the jail
itself has ceased to serve that function owing to consolidation of such facilities
within the state's penal system. In contrast to the jail, the Newfane Inn
continues in operation and now holds the significance of being one of the oldest
public hostelries in Vermont.

The present Newfane Village Historic District conveys a strong sense of nineteenth-
century Fayetteville. The extant building stock differs only marginally from that
in place during the period when the village acquired its present name. The
unifying architectural characteristics possessed by the buildings have been
described in Section 7. The cumulative effect of these characteristics gives the
village an extraordinarily cohesive appearance.

The limited range of architectural styles in Newfane village indicates both the
period and the intensity of its development. The Greek Revival style predominates,
reflecting the architectural fashion of the second quarter of the nineteenth century
when the village's development was largely accomplished. Only the Court House (#1)
and the Kimball-Benedict House (#39) with their tetrastyle porticoes approach

high style; most examples corsist of templé form buildings decorated in a
vernacular manner. Several temple form buildings display Gothic Revival style
ornamentation, a blend that appeared initially inthe Union Church (#5) of 1832

and subsequently pervaded Newfane's residential building stock. Interspersed
among the Greek Revival/Gothic Revival expressions are a few Federal style
buildings that represent the late eighteenth-century village on Newfane Hill.

The relative paucity of high-style buildings in Newfane village relates to its
historic situation within an essentially agricultural community that did not
possess substantial wealth. While a local cattle broker, Pardon T. Kimball,
achieved a certain sophistication in his Greek Revival house (#39), county
governmental resources were required to create the village's stylistic landmark,
the Windham County Court House. HNot even the arrival of a railroad in 1880
appreciably enhanced the village's fortunes; the rather modestly eclectic bank
building (#36) culminated the railroad's effect on the built environment, and
within a few decades the railroad itself disappeared from the persistently rural
setting.

During the present century, Newfane's buildings have been subjected to limited
degrees of alteration and change of usage. Synthetic sheathing materials have
been applied to several buildings, most notably the Newfane Inn (#37). Porches
and decorative features (usually nineteenth century additions) have been removed
from some buildings, occasionally as part of an attempt to restore an original
appearance. The village has been spared the disruptive effects of demolition,

at least among the principal buildings. The village's barns have become its most
‘ vulnerable historic resource: reflecting the disappearance of domestic livestock,
they have been mostly adapted to other uses with accompanying alterations of their
appearance. In a few cases, barns and sheds have been demolished, truncating the
"continuous architecture" typical of the village's residential building configuration.
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Complementing the overall integrity of Newfane's historic character, twentieth
century intrusions have not yet been thrust into its midst. The most recent
principal building in the historic district, the Historical Society's museum
(#12), was erected in 1936 but was designed as a reproduction of a Federal style
house. The lack of inappropriate modern commercial buildings distinguishes
Newfane from most other Vermont villages whose environments have been altered by
at least a few architectural intrusions.

Newfane preserves another significant aspect of its nineteenth century character.
Among most of Vermont's fourteen counties, the county seat has followed economic
and political power to the leading town. Two towns (Brattleboro and Bellows Falls)
in Windham County have become much larger and more influential than Newfane.
Nevertheless Newfane holds the distinction of being a small rural village that
retains the seat of county government.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION:

The boundary of the Newfane Village Historic District begins at a Point A located
at the intersection of the north property line of the Whitney House (#28) property
and the west edge of the former West River Railroad right-of-way; thence the boun-
dary extends southerly along the west edge of said former right-of-way to a Point B
located at its intersection with a line parallel to, and twenty-five (25) feet
north of, the north elevation of the former railroad water tank and maintenance
shed (#19); thence the boundary turns easterly and, crossing the former railroad
right-of-way, follows said line paralleling the building's north elevation to a
Point C located at its intersection with a line parallel to, and twenty-five (25)
feet east of, the east elevation of said building; thence the boundary turns
southerly and follows said line paralleling the building's east elevation to a
Point D located at its intersection with a line parallel to, and twenty-five (25)
feet south of, the south elevation of said building; thence the boundary turns
westerly and follows said line paralleling the building's south elevation, crossing
the former railroad right-of-way to a Point E located at its intersection with the
west edge of said right-of-way; thence the boundary turns southerly and follows
the west edge of said right-of-way (but passing to the east of the former Ballou's
Cider Mill and Jelly Factory, #18, and the former Newfane Depot, #17), crossing
Depot Street, and continuing to a Point F located at its intersection with the
south property line of the Buttery House (#9) property; thence the boundary turns
westerly and follows said property line to the Main Street right-of-way, crosses
the Main Street right-of-way, and continues along the south property lines of the
Eddy House (#8) property and the adjoining Kimball-Benedict House (#39) property
to a Point G located at the intersection of the latter property line and the
east edge of Smith Brook; thence the boundary turns northerly and follows the
east edge of said Brook to a Point H located at its intersection with the north
property line of the Jameson House (#58) property; thence the boundary turns
easterly and follows said property line and an easterly extension thereof across
the West Street right-of-way to a Point I located at its intersection with the
east edge of said right-of-way; thence the boundary turns northwesterly and follows
the east edge of said right-of-way to a Point J located at its intersection
with a line parallel to, and one hundred (100) feet north of, the north ele-
vation of the Edwards-Crispe Barn (#59A); thence the boundary turns northeasterly
and follows said line to a Point K located two hundred (200) feet from the east
edge of the West Street right-of-way; thence the boundary turns southeasterly
and follows a line parallel to, and 200 feet northeasterly of, the east edge of
the West Street right-of-way and the intersecting north edge of the Cross Street
right-of-way to a Point L located at the northwest corner of the Rhodes House (#55)
property; thence the boundary turns easterly and follows the north property line
of said property to a Point M located at the northeast corner of said property;
thence the boundary turns northerly and follows the west property line of the
Hamlin House (#30) property to a Point N located at its northwest corner; thence
. the boundary turns easterly and follows the north property line of said property



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No. 1024-0018
(3-82) Exp. 10-31-84

United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service For NPS use only
National Register of Historic Places received
inventory—Nomination Form date entered
Continuation sheet 7 ‘ Item number 1 Page -

to a Point O located at its intersection with the southwest corner of the Sprague
House (#29) property; thence the boundary turns northerly and follows the west
property line of said property to a Point P located at the northwest corner of
said property; thence the boundary turns easterly and follows the north property
line of said property and an easterly extension thereof across the Main Street
right-of-way to a Point Q located at its intersection with the ecast edge of said
right-of-way; thence the boundary turns northerly and follows the east edge of
said right-of-way to a Point R located at its intersection with the north property
line of the Whitney House (#28) property; thence the boundary turns easterly

and follows said property line to Point A, the point of beginning.

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

The boundaries of the historic district enclose the concentrated nineteenth century
buildings of Newfane village. Along the east side of the village, the right-of-way
of the abandoned West River Valley Railroad delineates the edge of the developed
area. A topographic feature, Smith Brook, serves the same function along the

west side of the village. The south boundary of the historic district corresponds

to a marked decline in the concentration of historic properties. The same factor
applies also along the north side of the historic district, where the boundary
reaches essentially to the edge of the village itself. The boundaries are sufficient
to protect the historic resources of the village.
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: November, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Common-scape showing #1, 37, 20,
16; View looking Northeast
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: November, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: East side of Main Street from #21
on right; View looking Northeast
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: November, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
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Description: Common-scape showing #1, 8716,
15, 14; View looking Northeast
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: November, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Windham County Court House, #1-
South, East elevations; View looking
Northwest
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H, Henry

Date: November, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
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Description: West Street-scape from #40 on
left, #42 on right; View looking North
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West
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date;:  October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Eddy House, #8-South, East
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
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Description: Buttery House, #9-West, South
elevations; View looking Northeast
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Date: October, 1982
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Society, #12-West elevation; View
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
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Description: Olds-Davidson House, #13-North
West elevations; View looking Southeast

Photograph 14

3






Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: ex-Windham County Jail, #14-
West, South elevations; View looking
Northeast
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
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Description: Chase-Maher House, #15; Barn,
#15A-West, South elevations; View looking
Northeast
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Newfane Store, #16-North, West
elevations; View looking Southeast
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Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: ex-Newfane Railroad Depot, #17-
South, East elevations; View looking
Northwest

Photograph 18
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Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October; 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: ex-Ballou's Cider Mill, #18-
South, East elevations; View looking
Northwest
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: November, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: ex-Railroad Water Tower, #19-
West, South elevations; View looking
Northeast
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: November, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: ex-Higgins Store, #20; Barn, #20A-
West, South elevations; View looking North-
east

Photograph 21
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Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Ballou House, #23-West, South
Elevations; View looking Northeast
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Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

pescription: Robinson House, #25-West, South
elevations, View looking Northeast
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: January, 1983

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Radway House, #26-West, South
elevations; View looking Northeast
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

pate: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Sanford House, #27-West, South
elevations; View looking Northeast

Photograph 25
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Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H, Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Whitney House, f#28-West, South
elevations; View looking Northeast
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Sprague House, #29-South, East
elevations; View looking Northwest

Photograph 27
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Hamlin House, #30-South, East
elevations; View looking Northwest

Photograph 28
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Newfane; Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Dodge House,#31; Barn #31A-South
elevation; View looking North

Photograph 29
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Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: January, 1983

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Dodge Barn, #31A-West, South
elevations; View looking Northeast

Photograph 30
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Edminster-Pratt House, #32-South,
East elevations; View looking Northwest

Photograph 31
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Witte House, #33-South, East
elevations; View looking Northwest

Photograph 32
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: McCracken House, #34-South, East
elevations; View looking Northwest

Photograph 33
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Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Eames House,#35-South, East
elevations; View looking Northwest

Photograph 34
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: January, 1983

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Eames House, #35-East elevation;
View looking Southwest
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H, Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Vermont National Bank, #36-South,
East elevations; View looking Northwest

Photograph 36
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Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: November, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Newfane Inn, #37, barn, shed,
WesSt wing-West, South elevations; View
looking Northeast
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Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Odd Fellows Building, #38-South,
East elevations; View looking Northwest

Photograph 38







Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Kimball-Benedict House, #39;
Barn, #39A-South, East elevations; View
looking Northwest

Photograph 39
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Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H, Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Moore Free Library, #40; Barn,
#40A-South, East elevations; View looking
Northwest

Photograph 40






Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Church House, #41-South, East
elevations; View looking Northwest

Photograph 41



I

T
W
JRHR =_=

|

W .____________; |




Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Underwood House, #42-West, South
elevations; View looking Northeast

Photograph 42
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Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Congregational Parsonage, #43-
South, East elevations; View looking
Northwest

Photograph 43






Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Howe House, #44-South, East
elevations; View looking Northwest

Photograph 44






Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H, Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Higgins-Maher House, #45-West,
South elevations; View looking Northeast

Photograph 45







Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: ‘October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Morse House, #46; Shed, #46A-
South, East elevations; View looking
Northwest

Photograph 46






Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Schaaf House, #47-South, East
elevations; View looking Northwest

Photograph 47
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Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H, Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Eager House, #48-West, South
elevations; View looking Northeast

Photograph 48






Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Rice House, #49-South, East
elevations; View looking Northwest

Photograph 49






Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date:  October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Wild House, #50-West, South
elevations; View looking Northeast

Photograph 50






Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: November, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Johnson-Field House, #51-South,

East elevations; View looking Northwest
Photograph 51






Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H, Henry

Date: January, 1983

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Johnson-Field House #51-East,

North elevations; View looking Southwest
Photograph 52






Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H, Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Warren House, #52; Garage, #52A-
West, South elevations; View looking
Northeast

Photograph 53







Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: October, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Bates House, #53-South, East
elevations; View looking Northwest

Photograph 54







Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: - Hugh H, Henry

Date: November, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Cushing House, #54-West, South
elevations; View looking Northeast

Photograph 55
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Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: November, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Jameson House, #58-South, East
elevations; View looking Northwest

Photograph 56






Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: November, 1982

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Edwards-Crispe House, #59-West,
South elevations; View looking Northeast

Plotograph 57
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Newfane Village Historic District

Newfane, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Date: January, 1983

Negative Filed at Vermont Division for
Historic Preservation

Description: Edwards-Crispe Barm, #59A-West,
South elevations; View looking Northeast

Photograph 58




